Ay ACTA

Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority

AGENDA

SPECIAL MEETING

Governing Board of the
Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority

Meeting Date: October 13, 2022
Time: 3:00 P.M.
Location: This meeting is being conducted via teleconference in

accordance with Assembly Bill No. 361 approved by Governor
Newsom on September 16, 2021, and Government Code
Section 54953(e)(1).

A physical location will not be available for public observance
of the meeting or public comment.

Conference Call for Meeting Attendance and  Dial: (562) 342-1138

Live Public Comment. Participant Pin: 2178101

Written Public Comment about Agenda Email: PublicComment@acta.org

ltems. Sender’s name and contact information are appreciated.

This meeting is being held in accordance with the Brown Act as currently in effect under Assembly Bill No. 361
approved by Governor Newsom on September 16, 2021, and Government Code Section 54953(e)(1) that allows
attendance by members of the Governing Board, ACTA staff, and the public to participate and conduct the meeting
by teleconference, video conference, or both.

A. ROLL CALL

B. OPENING STATEMENT

Members of the public may join the meeting using the conference call number set forth on the agenda and
may provide public comment on any agenda item. Live public comments will be heard no later than when
each item is considered by the Governing Board. Each public speaker will be limited to three minutes to
comment on each agenda item.

Any public comment received by email prior to the agenda item being called will be read into the record; any
email received after an item has been considered by the Governing Board, but before the end of the meeting
will be included in the minutes of the meeting.

The Governing Board may consider and act upon items as set forth on the agenda. Ordinarily, the Governing
Board will not act on any matter which does not appear on the published agenda.

R ——


mailto:PublicComment@acta.org

Ay ACTA

Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority OCtObe r 13, 2022

C. AGENDA ITEMS

Reports:
1. August 2022 Performance Report (INFORMATION)

Consent Agenda:

2. APPROVE Minutes of the September 15, 2022 Regular Board Meeting of the Alameda Corridor
Transportation Authority

3. APPROVE Resolution No. JPA 22-17 authorizing teleconference meetings for the ACTA Governing
Board and its Audit Committee pursuant to AB 361

Regular Agenda:

4. APPROVE Agreement with Sparkrock U.S., Inc. for accounting system licensing and services

D. PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS

E. CLOSED SESSION

NONE

ADJOURNMENT

As a covered entity under Title Il of the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Alameda Corridor
Transportation Authority (ACTA) does not discriminate on the basis of disability and, upon request, will
provide reasonable accommodation to ensure equal access to its programs, services, and activities. Sign
language interpreters, assistive listening devices, and translation services may be provided. To ensure
availability, 72-hour advance notice is required. Contact the ACTA Office at (562) 247-7777.




Item 1

Performance Report
August 2022

rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr




Port Container Throughput (TEUs) — August 2022

e o | mem [ o | mem [ o
e | wan| o] we|  se| | ue
v | man| o] mam| | mw| am

R e B T B B )
T R Y T R T

‘—_\
=
-
-
V 4 Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority




Alameda Corridor Performance
August 2022

Aug 2022

Revenue S9.4 M S66.3 M S18.2 M

Change from 2021 4.2 % -14.8 % -1.0%

TEU’s 457,637 3,140,956 898,217

Change from 2021 2.0 % -159% -2.1%

‘—_\
=
-
-
~ Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority




Monthly Revenue

(in millions)

CY2019, CY2020, CY2021 & YTD 2022

Corridor Revenue Performance

$12.0

$10.0 +

$8.0 +

$6.0 +

$4.0 +

$2.0 +

/\/\\

$0.0

Jan

Feb

Mar

Apr

May
22019

Jun

2020

Jul

2021

Aug
2022

Sep

Oct

Nov

Dec

rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr




60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

Port Cargo Components

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Loaded Imports

= Loaded Exports

Empties

rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr




45%

40%

35%

30%

25%

20%

Port Cargo Mode Split

P
P
P
P
P
P4
———-'—__-_\\s 4/
_-—“———’ \\\\ ,,
--------- - - - a» - - . \\ ’
<4
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
\e._
IPI Transload = =<=Truck ACTA % of Ports' Loaded TEUs "-_\

rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr




ITEM #02

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE ALAMEDA CORRIDOR TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY GOVERNING
BOARD HELD ON SEPTEMBER 15, 2022 AT 3:00 P.M. VIATELECONFERENCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASSEMBLY BILL
NO. 361 SIGNED BY GOVERNOR NEWSOM ON SEPTEMBER 16, 2021 AS GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 54953(e)(1)

A. ROLLCALL

Members participating via teleconference:
Suzie Price, City of Long Beach
Michael Cano, Los Angeles County Metro
Edward Renwick, Port of Los Angeles
Alternate Members participating via teleconference:
Tony Gioiello, Port of Los Angeles

Bonnie Lowenthal, Port of Long Beach

Members absent:
Joe Buscaino, City of Los Angeles

Mario Cordero, Port of Long Beach

Also participating via teleconference:
Michael Leue, ACTA, Chief Executive Officer
Kevin Scott, ACTA, Chief Financial Officer
Heather McCloskey, Co-General Counsel
Sudhir Lay, ACTA, Co-General Counsel
Maria Melendres, ACTA, Governing Board Secretary

B. OPENING STATEMENT
VICE-CHAIR PRICE PRESIDED AS CHAIR.

The meeting was called to order at 3:08 p.m. The opening statement was read into record.

C. AGENDA ITEMS

Reports
1. JULY 2022 CORRIDOR PERFORMANCE

Michael Leue presented the Corridor performance statistics through July 2022.

Consent Agenda

2. MINUTES - ACTA GOVERNING BOARD REGULAR MEETING OF AUGUST 18, 2022 — APPROVED.

Minutes of the Regular Meeting of August 18, 2022, of the Governing Board of the Alameda Corridor
Transportation Authority, were presented to the Governing Board.



3.

ITEM #02

RESOLUTION NO. JPA 22-16 — TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS — GOVERNING BOARD AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE — APPROVED.

Communication from Michael Leue, Chief Executive Officer, dated September 15, 2022, recommending
that the Board approve Resolution No. JPA 22-16 authorizing the ACTA Governing Board and its Audit
Committee to continue to hold teleconference meetings due to the COVID-19 pandemic, was presented
to the Governing Board.

No public comment was received on the Consent Agenda.

Acting Chair Price motioned, seconded by Board Member Renwick that Item Nos. 2 & 3 be approved as
recommended. Roll call was taken and carried by the following vote:

AYES: Cano, Gioiello, Lowenthal, Price, Renwick
NOES: None
ABSENT: Buscaino, Cordero

Regular Agenda

4. ALAMEDA CORRIDOR DISPATCHING AGREEMENT — ELEVENTH AMENDMENT — APPROVED.

Communication from Michael Leue, Chief Executive Officer, dated September 15, 2022, recommending
the approval of the Eleventh Amendment to the Alameda Corridor Dispatching Agreement and
authorization of the Chief Executive Officer to execute the proposed amendment, extending the term of
the Alameda Corridor Dispatching Agreement between ACTA, the BNSF Railway Company, and Union
Pacific Railroad Company, for up to two years through October 14, 2024, was presented to the
Governing Board.

No public comment was received on Item No. 4.

Acting Chair Price motioned, seconded by Board Member Lowenthal that Item No. 4 be approved as
recommended. Roll call was taken and carried by the following vote:

AYES: Cano, Gioiello, Lowenthal, Price, Renwick
NOES: None
ABSENT: Buscaino, Cordero

POLICE AND SECURITY SERVICES AGREEMENT — TENTH AMENDMENT — APPROVED.

Communication from Michael Leue, Chief Executive Officer, dated September 15, 2022, recommending
the approval of the Tenth Amendment to the Corridor Police and Security Services Agreement and
authorization of the Chief Executive Officer to execute the amendment, extending the term of the
Alameda Corridor Police and Security Services Agreement, between ACTA, the BNSF Railway Company,
and Union Pacific Railroad Company, for up to two years through October 14, 2024, was presented to
the Governing Board.

No public comment was received on Item No. 5.



ITEM #02

Board Member Lowenthal motioned, seconded by Board Member Renwick that Item No. 5 be approved
as recommended. Roll call was taken and carried by the following vote:

AYES: Cano, Gioiello, Lowenthal, Price, Renwick
NOES: None
ABSENT: Buscaino, Cordero

AD HOC COMMITTEE — ORGANIZATIONAL PLANNING — APPROVED.

Communication from Michael Leue, Chief Executive Officer, and Kevin Scott, Chief Financial Officer,
dated September 15, 2022, recommending the creation of an Ad Hoc Committee for Organizational
Planning and the nomination and approval of three Governing Board members to serve on the
committee, was presented to the Governing Board.

No public comment was received on Item No. 6.

Acting Chair Price made a motion to appoint Board Members Renwick, Seroka, and Cordero or their
designee to the Ad Hoc Committee. The motion was seconded by Board Member Lowenthal. Roll call
was taken and carried by the following vote:

AYES: Cano, Gioiello, Lowenthal, Price, Renwick
NOES: None
ABSENT: Buscaino, Cordero

D. PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS

There were no requests by the public to address the Governing Board.

E. CLOSED SESSION

None

ADJOURNMENT

At 3:38 p.m., the meeting was adjourned sine die.



A5 ACTA

Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority ITE M #03

MEMO

Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority

Meeting Date: October 13, 2022
From: Michael C. Leue, Chief Executive Officer WW
Subject: APPROVE Resolution No. JPA 22-17 authorizing teleconference meetings for the

ACTA Governing Board and its Audit Committee pursuant to AB 361

Recommendation:

Approve the proposed Resolution to authorize the ACTA Governing Board and its Audit Committee to continue
holding teleconference meetings due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Discussion:

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, from April 2020 onward the ACTA Governing Board and its Audit Committee have
conducted public meetings via telephonic conference calls, while such remote meetings were authorized through
various Executive Orders issued by the Governor of California. These Executive Orders expired on September 30,
2021.

On September 16, 2021, the Governor signed into law Assembly Bill 361 (AB 361), which amended certain
requirements of the Ralph M. Brown Act (“Brown Act”) by allowing a continuation of similar remote meeting
practices during declared states of emergency where certain requirements are met. Pursuant to the Governor’s
Executive Order N-15-21, AB 361 went into effect on October 1, 2021.

To utilize the Brown Act remote meeting provisions set forth in AB 361, legislative bodies must make certain
findings regarding the COVID-19 state of emergency and the need for remote meetings, and so long as the need
for remote meetings continues, make those findings by a majority vote every 30 days. The attached Resolution
(Transmittal 1) makes the necessary findings pursuant to the Brown Act to authorize the Governing Board and its
Audit Committee to follow the teleconference meeting provisions of Government Code Section 54953(e)(2).

On September 30, 2021, the City of Long Beach Health Officer recommended that physical distancing measures
continue to be practiced throughout Long Beach communities and that they be continued by the City’s legislative
bodies to minimize the spread of COVID-19 for the protection of the community, staff, presenters, and legislative
body members.

The Los Angeles Board of Harbor Commission is continuing to meet remotely. For a period of time the Long Beach
Board of Harbor Commission conducted hybrid meetings, allowing both the commissioners and the public to
attend in-person or remotely. However, the Long Beach Board of Harbor Commission recently returned to fully
remote meetings. ACTA will continue to monitor the meetings of both Ports and will evaluate conducting in-
person meetings on a monthly basis or when the state of emergency is lifted.

R ——



Ay ACTA

Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority Octo b erl 3, 2022
ITEM #03

Budget Impact:

There will be no budget impact from the proposed action.

Co-General Counsel Review:

ACTA'’s Co-General Counsel has reviewed and approved the proposed Resolution as to form.

Transmittals:

Transmittal 1 — Resolution No. JPA 22-17




Resolution No. JPA 22-17

RESOLUTION TO CONTINUE TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS
PURSUANT TO AB 361

WHEREAS, on March 12, 2020, the Governor of California issued Executive Order N-25-20
which temporarily suspended certain requirements of the Ralph M. Brown Act (“Brown Act”) in light
of the COVID-19 pandemic, an ongoing public health state of emergency; and

WHEREAS, the Governor issued additional Executive Orders in 2020 and 2021 further
suspending various requirements of the Brown Act for public meetings; and

WHEREAS, following expiration of the Executive Orders, on September 16, 2021, the
Governor signed into law Assembly Bill 361 (“AB 361”), allowing for teleconference meetings under
the Brown Act during declared states of emergency; and

WHEREAS, there is a continuing state of emergency concerning the COVID-19 pandemic at
both the State and City of Long Beach levels, and, on September 30, 2021, the City of Long Beach
Health Officer issued a recommendation for the continuation of virtual public meetings; and

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED as follows:

Section1. The ACTA Governing Board finds that the COVID-19 pandemic state of
emergency continues to directly impact the ability of legislative bodies to meet safely in person and
that the City of Long Beach Health Officer's recommendation to practice physical distancing
measures remains in effect.

Section 2. The ACTA Governing Board hereby authorizes the ACTA Governing Board and
its Audit Committee to hold teleconference meetings in accordance with Government Code Section
54953(e)(1)-(2).

Section 3.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption by the ACTA
Governing Board, and the Board Secretary shall certify the vote adopting this resolution.

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:

| HEREBY CERTIFY THAT the foregoing resolution was adopted by the ACTA Governing Board
at its meeting held on October 13, 2022.

Maria M. Melendres
Board Secretary
APPROVED AS TO FORM

, 2022
MICHAEL N. FEUER, City Attorney

By

Heather M. McCloskey, Deputy City Attorney
ACTA Co-General Counsel



%> ACTA

Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority ITE M #04

MEMO

Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority

Meeting Date: October 13, 2022
From: Kevin L. Scott, Chief Financial Officer
Subject: APPROVE Agreement No. with Sparkrock U.S., Inc. doing business as

Sparkrock and related changes to FY 2022/23 Budget

Recommendation:

Approve Agreement No. ___ with Sparkrock U.S., Inc. doing business as Sparkrock (“Sparkrock”) for accounting
system licensing and services. The Agreement compensation is not-to-exceed $169,810 and it will be in effect
until October 30, 2025, unless terminated earlier or if the Governing Board approves the option to renew for an
additional 5-year period; and authorize the Chief Executive Officer or his designee to execute the Agreement. To
accommodate the Agreement the Governing Board is also being requested to approve recommended changes to
ACTA’s FY 2022/23 budget.

Discussion:

In 2020, the Governing Board approved an agreement with Arctic Information Technology, Inc. (“Arctic”), selected
through a competitive selection process to provide and implement a new accounting system known as Sparkrock
365. The Agreement with Artic was executed in October 2020, with a five-year term and one five-year option to
renew. The new accounting system was successfully implemented in a remarkable 2-month period so that ACTA
transitioned to the new system by January 1, 2021. Final implementation services remain to be completed, along
with annual maintenance and support services.

Although the agreement with Arctic was serving ACTA’s needs, earlier this year Arctic informed ACTA that, due to
a business reorientation of the firm, it would no longer support Sparkrock 365. Arctic arranged to provide ACTA
with temporary support of the system though Sparkrock, the underlying developer of Sparkrock 365.

Due to Arctic no longer supporting Sparkrock 365, ACTA must contract with a new firm to procure licenses and
service for continued use of the accounting system. Two options are available to meet this need; 1) enter into an
agreement with another re-seller of Sparkrock 365, or 2) enter into an agreement with Sparkrock directly.

Staff considered three key factors in analyzing these two options; 1) the assurance of continued product support,
2) knowledgeable service and training and 3) competitive pricing, as described in the following table:




A5 ACTA

Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority

October 13, 2022
ITEM #04

Reseller Sparkrock Preferred Provider

Assurance of Subject to Company’s Sparkrock is the Sparkrock
Continued Product Business Strategy developer of Sparkrock
Support 365, which is the

company’s core

product
Knowledgeable Service | Secondary Knowledge As developer, Sparkrock
and Training of Sparkrock 365 Sparkrock has expert

primary knowledge of

Sparkrock 365
Competitive Pricing Subject to additional Sparkrock has agreed Sparkrock

costs as a secondary
provider

to use Arctic’s fees for
service and licensing,

established with ACTA
through a competitive
selection process

Based on this assessment, staff recommends contracting with Sparkrock on a sole source basis, without a
competitive selection process. The initial term of the Agreement will run from the date of execution to
October 30, 2025. Subject to negotiation of a mutually acceptable amendment, and with approval of the
Governing Board, ACTA has the option to extend the Agreement for an additional five years to October 30, 2030.

The cost components of the Agreement are as follow:

Component S Comments

1-a: Licensing, and 132,810 | See Exhibit A for details

1-b: Service (3 years)

2 — Activating budget function of Sparkrock 365 and 12,000 | See Exhibit A-4 for details

general refresher training (2022/23)

3 — As-Needed Services 25,000 | Time and Material Basis as set forth
in Exhibit A-3

Total 169,810 | Maximum Contract Amount

As-Needed Services will be billed on a time and materials basis at the rate of $250 per hour.

R ——



Ay ACTA

Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority Octo b erl 3, 2022
ITEM #04

Budget Impact:

The proposed not to exceed amount for the Agreement is $169,810 for the three-year term. For fiscal year 2022-
23 the minimum amount under the Agreement will be $43,427. The licensing payment of $33,427 for this fiscal
year has been included in the Information Technology portion of the ACTA FY 2022/23 budget, approved by the
Governing Board in June 2022. However, the service support payment of $10,000 has not been included in the
Professional Services budget. In addition, the budget for training and As-Needed Services totaling $37,000 were
not in the 2022/23 budget. Therefore, staff recommends that the Governing Board approve the following changes
to ACTA’s 2022-23 budget.

Revisions to the FY 2022/23 Budget

1. | Approve an increase in the Professional Services budget from
$447,155 to $494,155.

2. | Approve a transfer of $47,000 from the ACET Administrative budget
to the Professional Services budget.

3. | Approve a decrease in the ACET Administrative budget from
$1,667,684 to $1,620,684

Co-General Counsel Review:

ACTA’s Co-General Counsel has reviewed and approved the proposed Agreement as to form.

Transmittals:

Transmittal 1 — Agreement No.




AGREEMENT NO.

BETWEEN THE ALAMEDA CORRIDOR
TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
AND
SPARKROCK U.S., INC. DBA SPARKROCK

THIS AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into by and between the
ALAMEDA CORRIDOR TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY, a California Joint Powers
Authority ("ACTA?”, “Client”, “Customer”, “you”, “your”) acting by and through its
Governing Board (“Board”), and SPARKROCK U.S., INC. doing business as
SPARKROCK, a Delaware corporation, with a principal place of business at 21750
Hardy Oak Blvd., Suite 104, PMB 62757, San Antonio, Texas 78258 (“Consultant”,

LTS LT3 ”

“Sparkrock”, “Partner”, “we”, “us”).

WHEREAS, ACTA has purchased and implemented a new Enterprise Resource
Planning (“ERP”) accounting system utilizing Consultant’s proprietary software system
known as “Sparkrock 365”; and

WHEREAS, ACTA requires the professional, expert and technical services of
Consultant to provide technical support and licensing for continued use of Sparkrock
365; and

WHEREAS, Consultant possesses extensive experience in supporting its
proprietary Sparkrock 365 system; and

WHEREAS, Consultant, by virtue of training and experience, is well qualified to
provide such services to ACTA;

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

1. Incorporation of Recitals

1.1 The recitals to this Agreement above are incorporated herein and made a
part hereof.

2. Services To Be Performed By Consultant

2.1 Consultant hereby agrees to render to ACTA, as an independent
contractor, certain professional, technical and expert services as set forth in Exhibits A,
A-1, A-2, A-3, and A-4 (“Scope of Work™).

2.2  Consultant acknowledges and agrees that it lacks authority to perform and
that ACTA’s CEO lacks authority to request the performance of any services outside the
Scope of Work. Consultant further acknowledges and agrees that any services it
performs outside the Scope of Work are performed as a volunteer and shall not be
compensable under this Agreement.

2.3 The Scope of Work shall be performed by personnel qualified and
1



competent in the sole reasonable discretion of ACTA’s CEO. Consultant shall not have
any Scope of Work performed by third parties as subconsultants. Obligations of this
Agreement are and shall be the responsibility of Consultant. Consultant acknowledges
and agrees that this Agreement creates no rights in any third parties with respect to
ACTA and that no obligations may be owed to third parties as Subconsultants.

2.4  Consultant, at its sole cost and expense, shall furnish all services,
materials, equipment, subsistence, transportation and all other items necessary to
perform the Scope of Work. As between ACTA and Consultant, Consultant is solely
responsible for any taxes or fees which may be assessed against it or its employees
resulting from performance of the Scope of Work, whether social security, payroll or
other, and regardless of whether assessed by the federal government, any state, City,
or any other governmental entity.

3. Services To Be Performed By ACTA

3.1 ACTA shall furnish Consultant, upon its request, with available and/or
necessary information in possession of ACTA which may lawfully be supplied to
Consultant and which are necessary for Consultant to perform its obligations.

3.2 ACTA’s CEO or his designee is designated as the contract administrator
for ACTA and shall also decide any all questions which may arise as to the quality or
acceptability of the services performed and the manner of performance, the
interpretation of instructions to Consultant and the acceptable completion of this
Agreement and the amount of compensation due. Notwithstanding the preceding, the
termination of this agreement shall be governed by the provisions of Section 6
(Termination) thereof.

3.3  Consultant shall provide ACTA’s CEO with reasonable advance written
notice if it requires access to the premises of ACTA. Access rights, if any, shall be
granted to Consultant at the sole reasonable discretion of ACTA’s CEO, specifying
conditions Consultant must satisfy in connection with such access. Consultant
acknowledges that such areas may be occupied or used by tenants or contractors of
ACTA and that access right granted by ACTA to Consultant shall be consistent with any
such occupancy or use.

4. Effective Date and Term

4.1  The effective date of this Agreement shall be the date of its execution by
ACTA’s CEO or his designee upon authorization of the Board.

4.2 Commencing on the Agreement’s effective date, this Agreement shall be
in full force and effect until the earlier of the following occurs:

a. October 30, 2025 (“Initial Term”); or

b. ACTA’s Board exercises its one option to renew the Agreement for an
additional term of five (5) years under Section 4.3 of this Agreement; or

C. The Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 6.



4.3 The ACTA Board may renew the term of the Agreement for one (1)
renewal period of five (5) years (the “Renewal Term”), subject to the parties’ negotiating
to a mutually acceptable amendment to Exhibit A, Order Form. The Renewal Term and
Order Form shall be approved by the ACTA Board prior to the expiration of the
Agreement. Upon approval of the Renewal Term by the ACTA Board, ACTA’'s CEO
shall provide written notice of said approval to Consultant.

5. Compensation.

5.1  The maximum amount payable, including reimbursable expenses, for the
full and satisfactory performance under this Agreement during the Initial Term, shall be
One Hundred Sixty-Nine Thousand Eight Hundred Ten Dollars ($169,810).

5.2 Compensation payable under this Agreement for payment for labor, travel,
per diem, materials, supplies, transportation, and all other direct and indirect costs and
expenses incurred by Consultant (“Expenses”) are listed in Exhibit A, A-1, A-2, A-3 and
A-4.

5.3  Each month during the term of this Agreement, as a prerequisite to
payment for services, Consultant shall submit a written invoice to ACTA for services
performed during the prior month, accompanied by such records and receipts as may
be required by Section 5.5. If payments are to be based on the performance of
established milestones, Consultant shall bill as each milestone is completed, but not
more often than once a month.

Consultant shall submit one (1) original and one (1) copy of each such invoice for
payment and include the following certification:

“I certify under penalty of perjury that the above invoice is true and
just, in accordance with the terms of Agreement No. , that
payment of this invoice has not been received and that none of the
items contained in the invoice have been submitted to any other
agency.

(signed)

5.4  Consultant shall not employ Subconsultants under this Agreement.
Consultant further acknowledges and agrees that any services performed by a
subconsultant shall be considered work performed by Consultant as a volunteer and
shall not be compensable under this Agreement.

5.5 Consultant shall submit supporting documents with each invoice, which
may include, but not be limited to, provider invoices, receipts, payrolls, and time sheets.
ACTA may require, and Consultant shall provide, all documents reasonably required to
determine whether amounts on the invoice are allowable expenses under this
Agreement. Consultant is not required to submit support for direct costs items of $25
or less. All invoices are subject to audit.

5.6  All sums due and payable to Consultant shall be paid as soon as, in the

3



ordinary course of ACTA business, the same may be reviewed and approved.

For payment and processing, all invoices shall be mailed to the following

address:
Accounts Payable Department
Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority
3760 Kilroy Airport Way, Suite 200
Long Beach, California 90806
6. Termination

See Exhibit A-2, Section 8.

7. Recordkeeping and Audit Rights

Consultant shall keep and maintain full, complete and accurate books of
accounts and records of the services performed under this Agreement in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied. Such books and
records shall be maintained by Consultant for a period of three (3) years after
completion of services to be performed under this Agreement or until all disputes,
appeals, litigation or claims arising from this Agreement have been resolved.

8. Consultant Is An Independent Contractor

Consultant, in the performance of the Scope of Work, is an independent
contractor and not an agent or employee of ACTA. Consultant shall not represent itself
as an agent or employee of ACTA and shall have no power to bind ACTA in contract or
otherwise.

9. Indemnification

See Exhibit A-2, Section 7.
10.  Insurance
10.1 Insurance procured by Consultant on Behalf of Consultant

As a condition precedent to the effectiveness of this Agreement, Consultant shall
procure and maintain at its sole cost and expense, and keep in force at all times during
the term of this Agreement the following insurance:

(@) Commercial General Liability Insurance

Commercial general liability insurance covering personal and advertising injury,
bodily injury, and property damage providing contractual liability, independent
contractors, products and completed operations, and premises/operations coverage
written by an insurance company authorized to do business in the State of California
rated VII, A- or better in Best’'s Insurance Guide (or an alternate guide acceptable to
ACTA if Best’s is not available) within Consultant’s normal limits of liability but not less
than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit for injury or claim. Said

4



limits shall provide first dollar coverage except that ACTA’s CEO may permit a self-
insured retention or self-insurance in those cases where, in his judgment, such retention
or self-insurance is justified by the net worth of Consultant. The retention or self-
insurance provided shall provide that any other insurance maintained by ACTA shall be
excess of Consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute to it. In all cases, regardless
of any deductible or retention, said insurance shall contain a defense of suits provision,
and a severability of interest clause. Each policy shall include ACTA, its Board, officers,
agents and employees as Primary additional insureds.

(b)  Automobile Liability Insurance

Automobile liability insurance written by an insurance company authorized to do
business in the State of California rated VII, A- or better in Best’s Insurance Guide (or
an alternate guide acceptable to ACTA if Best’s is not available) within Consultant’s
normal limits of liability but not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) covering
damages, injuries or death resulting from each accident or claim arising out of any one
claim or accident. Said insurance shall protect against claims arising from actions or
operations of the insured, or by its employees. Coverage shall contain a defense of
suits provision and a severability of interest clause. Each policy shall include ACTA, its
Board, officers, agents and employees as Primary additional insureds.

(c) Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability

Consultant shall certify that it is aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the
California Labor code which requires every employer to be insured against liability for
Workers’ Compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the
provisions of that Code, and that where applicable Consultant shall comply with such
provisions before commencing the performance of the tasks under this Agreement.
Where applicable, Consultant shall submit Workers’ Compensation policies whether
underwritten by the state insurance fund or private carrier, which provide that the public
or private carrier waives its right of subrogation against ACTA in any circumstance in
which it is alleged that actions or omissions of ACTA contributed to the accident. Such
Worker's Compensation and occupational disease requirements shall include coverage
for all employees of Consultant, and for all employees of any subcontractor or other
vendor retained by Consultant.

(d) Professional Liability Insurance

Consultant is required to provide Professional Liability insurance with respect to
negligent or wrongful acts, errors or omissions, or failure to render services in
connection with the professional services to be provided under this Agreement. This
insurance shall protect against claims arising from professional services of the insured,
or by its employees, agents, or contractors, and include coverage (or no exclusion) for
contractual liability.

Consultant certifies that it now has professional liability insurance in the amount
of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000), which covers work to be performed pursuant to this
Agreement and that it will keep such insurance or its equivalent in effect at all times
during performance of said Agreement and until two (2) years following expiration or
termination of the Agreement.



(e) Technology Errors and Omissions Liability Insurance

Consultant is required to provide Technology Errors and Omissions Liability
Insurance with respect to negligent or wrongful acts, errors or omissions, in rendering or
failing to render computer or information technology services or technology products in
connection with the professional services to be provided under this Agreement. This
insurance policy shall include coverage for Privacy and Network Security and protect
against claims arising from all products and services of the insured, or by its employees,
agents, or contractors, and include coverage (or no exclusion) for contractual
liability. The limits disclosed herein shall neither increase nor decrease Consultant’s
liability as defined elsewhere in this Agreement.

Consultant certifies that it now has Technology Errors and Omissions Liability
Insurance in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per claim/aggregate
including Notification Costs, which shall cover the work to be performed pursuant to this
Agreement and that it will keep such insurance or its equivalent in effect at all times
during performance of said Agreement and until two (2) years following expiration or
termination of the Agreement.

10.2 Insurance Procured by Consultant on Behalf of ACTA

Where Consultant is required to name ACTA, its Board, officers, agents and
employees as Primary additional insureds on any insurance policy required by this
Agreement, Consultant shall cause ACTA to be included as an additional insured on all
policies it procures in connection with this Section 10. Consultant shall cause such
additional insured status to be reflected in the original policy or by additional insured
endorsement (CG 2010 or equivalent) substantially as follows:

"Notwithstanding any inconsistent statement in the policy to which this
endorsement is attached, or any endorsement or certificate now or hereafter attached
hereto, it is agreed that the Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority, its Board, their
officers, agents and employees, are additional insureds hereunder, and that coverage is
provided for all contractual obligations, operations, uses, occupations, acts and activities
of the insured under Agreement No. C0894, and under any amendments, modifications,
extensions or renewals of said Agreement regardless of where such contractual
obligations, operations, uses, occupations, acts and activities occur.

"The coverage provided by the policy to which this endorsement is attached is
primary coverage and any other insurance carried by ACTA is excess coverage;

"In the event of one of the named insured’s incurring liability to any other of the
named insureds, this policy shall provide protection for each named insured against
whom claim is or may be made, including claims by other named insureds, in the same
manner as if separate policies had been issued to each named insured. Nothing
contained herein shall operate to increase the company's limit of liability; and

"Notice of occurrences or claims under the policy shall be made to ACTA’s CEO
with copies sent to ACTA’s Co-General Counsel at the following addresses; 1) Office of
the Long Beach City Attorney, 411 West Ocean Boulevard, 9" Floor, Long Beach,
California 90802, and 2) Office of the Los Angeles City Attorney, 425 S. Palos Verdes
Street, San Pedro, California, 90731."

6



10.3 Required Features of Coverages

Insurance procured by Consultant in connection with this Section 10 shall include
the following features:

(@)  Acceptable Evidence and Approval of Insurance

Consultant’s insurance broker or agent shall submit to ACTA the appropriate
proof of insurance on Consultant’s behalf.

Upon request by ACTA, Consultant shall furnish full copies of certified policies of
any insurance policy required herein. This obligation is intended to, and shall, survive
the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.

(b)  Carrier Requirements

All insurance which Consultant is required to provide pursuant to this Agreement
shall be placed with insurance carriers authorized to do business in the State of
California and which are rated A-, VIl or better in Best’s Insurance Guide. Carriers
without a Best’s rating shall meet comparable standards in another rating service
acceptable to ACTA.

(c) Notice of Cancellation

For each insurance policy described above, Consultant shall give a 10-day
prior notice of cancellation or reduction in coverage for nonpayment of premium, and a
30-day prior notice of cancellation or reduction in coverage for any other reason, by
written notice via registered mail and addressed to ACTA as set forth herein.

(d)  Modification of Coverage

ACTA'’s CEOQO, at his sole reasonable discretion, based upon recommendation of
independent insurance consultants to ACTA, may increase or decrease amounts and
types of insurance coverage required hereunder at any time during the term hereof by
giving ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to Consultant.

(e) Renewal of Policies

At least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of any policy required by this
Agreement, Consultant shall renew or extend such policy in accordance with the
requirements of this Agreement and direct their insurance broker or agent to submit to
the ACTA a renewal endorsement or renewal certificate or, if new insurance has been
obtained, evidence of insurance as specified above. If Consultant neglects or fails to
secure or maintain the insurance required above, ACTA’s CEO may, at his own option
but without any obligation, obtain such insurance to protect ACTA's interests. The cost
of such insurance shall be deducted from the next payment due Consultant.

(f) Limits of Coverage

If Consultant maintains higher limits than the minimums required by this
Agreement, ACTA requires and shall be entitled to coverage for the higher limits

7



maintained by Consultant. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified
minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be available to ACTA.

10.4 Accident Reports

Consultant shall report in writing to ACTA’s CEO within fifteen (15) calendar days
after it, its officers or managing agents have knowledge of any accident or occurrence
involving death of or injury to any person or persons, or damage in excess of Five
Hundred Dollars ($500.00) to property, occurring upon any Alameda Corridor property if
Consultant’s officers, agents or employees are involved in such an accident or
occurrence. Such report shall contain to the extent available (1) the name and address
of the persons involved, (2) a general statement as to the nature and extent of injury or
damage, (3) the date and hour of occurrence, (4) the names and addresses of known
witnesses, and (5) such other information as may be known to Consultant, its officers or
managing agents.

11. Personal Services Agreement

Consultant acknowledges that it has been selected to perform the Scope of Work
because of its experience, qualifications and expertise. Any assignment or other
transfer of this Agreement or any part hereof, including the assignment of work to third
parties as subconsultants, shall be void.

12. Confidentiality

The Parties agree that ACTA'’s obligations regarding the handling and disclosure
of documents and records in its possession shall at all times be in accordance with the
California Public Records Act. All other obligations of the Parties regarding handling
and disclosure of proprietary or confidential information, shall be as set forth in Exhibit
A-1 (See Sections Titled Privacy and Confidentiality) and Exhibit A-2, Section 5.

13.  Affirmative Action

Consultant shall not discriminate in its employment practices against any
employee or applicant for employment because of employee’s or applicant’s race,
religion, national origin, ancestry, sex, age, sexual orientation, disability, marital status,
domestic partner status, or medical condition. All subcontracts awarded shall contain a
like nondiscrimination provision.

14. Small/Very Small Business Enterprise Program

It is the policy of ACTA to provide Small Business Enterprises (SBE), Very Small
Business Enterprises (VSBE), and Minority-Owned, Women-Owned, Disabled Veteran
Business Enterprises and all Other Business Enterprises (MBE/WBE/DVBE/OBE) an
equal opportunity to participate in the performance of all ACTA contracts in all areas
where such contracts afford such participation opportunities. Consultant shall assist
ACTA in implementing this policy and shall use its best efforts to afford the opportunity
for SBEs, VSBEs, MBEs, WBEs, DVBEs, and OBEs to achieve participation in
subcontracts where such participation opportunities present themselves and attempt to
ensure that all available business enterprises, including SBEs, VSBEs, MBEs, WBEs,
DVBEs, and OBEs, have equal participation opportunities which might be presented

8



under this Agreement. See Exhibit B.

15. Conflict of Interest

It is hereby understood and agreed that the parties to this Agreement have read
and are aware of the provisions of Section 1090 et seq. and Section 87100 et seq. of
the California Government Code relating to conflict of interest of public officers and
employees, as well as the Conflict of Interest Code of ACTA. All parties hereto agree
that they are unaware of any financial or economic interest of any public officer or
employee of ACTA relating to this Agreement. Notwithstanding any other provision of
this Agreement, it is further understood and agreed that if such financial interest does
exist at the inception of this Agreement, ACTA may immediately terminate this
Agreement by giving written notice thereof.

16. Compliance with Applicable Laws

Consultant’s activities under this Agreement, including its performance of the
Scope of Work, shall comply with all federal, state, municipal, and local laws,
ordinances, rules, regulations, and orders.

17. ACTA’s Disclosure Obligations

Consultant acknowledges that ACTA is subject to laws, rules and/or regulations
generally requiring it to disclose records upon request, which laws, rules and/or
regulations include, but are not limited to, the California Public Records Act (California
Government Code Sections 6250 et seq.) (“Disclosure Laws”).

18. Notices

All notices given by either party to the other party under this Agreement shall be
in writing and personally delivered or sent by guaranteed overnight courier to ACTA
addressed to its Chief Executive Officer, Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority,
3760 Kilroy Airport Way, Suite 200, Long Beach, California 90806, and notice to
Sparkrock shall be by email to sales@sparkrock.com. Notices under this Section will be
deemed given: (a) at the time of actual delivery if made in person; (b) one day after
delivery to an overnight air courier service; or (c) if by email to Sparkrock, when sent,
with confirmation of transmission. Either party may change its address for notices on
written notice to the other party. Except for communications concerning operational
maintenance (including downtime) or support services, any notice by email will be
effective only if a signed scanned letter is attached to the email. Notices required under
this Agreement shall not be made upon ACTA by email, including service of process for
any suit, action, or other proceeding brought in any court of law.

19. Construction of Agreement

This Agreement shall not be construed against the party preparing the same,
shall be construed without regard to the identity of the person who drafted such and
shall be construed as if all parties had jointly prepared this Agreement and it shall be
deemed their joint work product; each and every provision of this Agreement shall be
construed as though all of the parties hereto participated equally in the drafting hereof;
and any uncertainty or ambiguity shall not be interpreted against any one party. As a

9


mailto:sales@sparkrock.com

result of the foregoing, any rule of construction that a document is to be construed
against the drafting party shall not be applicable.

20. Titles and Captions

The parties have inserted the section titles in this Agreement only as a matter of
convenience and for reference, and the section titles in no way define, limit, extend or
describe the scope of this Agreement or the intent of the parties in including any
particular provision in this Agreement.

21. Modification in Writing

This Agreement shall not be amended, nor any provision or breach hereof
waived, except in writing signed by the parties which expressly refers to this Agreement
Any such modifications are subject to all applicable approval processes required by,
without limitation, ACTA’s Joint Powers Authority Agreement.

22. Waiver

A failure of any party to this Agreement to enforce the Agreement upon a breach
or default shall not waive the breach or default or any other breach or default. All
waivers shall be in writing.

23. Governing Law/Venue

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws
of the State of California, without reference to the conflicts of law, rules and principles of
such State. The parties agree that all actions or proceedings arising in connection with
this Agreement shall be tried and litigated exclusively in the State or Federal courts
located in the County of Los Angeles, State of California, in the judicial district required
by court rules.

24. Severability

Should any part, term, condition or provision of this Agreement be declared or
determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or incapable of
being enforced by any rule of law or public policy, the validity of the remaining parts,
terms, conditions or provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby, and
such invalid, illegal or unenforceable part, term, condition or provision shall be treated
as follows: (a) if such part, term, condition or provision is immaterial to this Agreement,
then such part, term, condition or provision shall be deemed not to be a part of this
Agreement; or (b) if such part, term, condition or provision is material to this Agreement,
then the parties shall revise the part, term, condition or provision so as to comply with
the applicable law or public policy and to effect the original intent of the parties as
closely as possible.

25. Integrated Agreement

This Agreement contains the entire understanding and agreement between the
parties hereto with respect to the matters referred to herein. No other representations,
covenants, undertakings, or prior or contemporaneous agreements, oral or written,

10



regarding such matters which are not specifically contained, referenced, and/or
incorporated into this Agreement by reference shall be deemed in any way to exist or
bind any of the parties. Each party acknowledges that it has not been induced to enter
into the Agreement and has not executed the Agreement in reliance upon any promises,
representations, warranties or statements not contained, referenced, and/or
incorporated into the Agreement. THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THIS
AGREEMENT IS INTENDED TO BE, AND IS, AN INTEGRATED AGREEMENT.

26. Exhibits; Sections

All exhibits to which reference is made in this Agreement are deemed
incorporated in this Agreement, whether or not actually attached. To the extent the
terms of an exhibit conflict with or appear to conflict with the terms of the body of the
Agreement, the terms of the body of the Agreement shall control. References to
sections are to sections of this Agreement unless stated otherwise.

27. Order of Precedence

To the extent the terms of this Agreement and the terms of any exhibit conflict
with, or appear to conflict with, each other, the following order of precedence shall be
observed:

1) For Governing Law and Venue, Section 23 of the Agreement.
2) For Notices, Section 18 of the Agreement.

3) For all other terms and conditions provided herein:

the Agreement;

Exhibit A, Order Form;

Exhibit A-1 and Exhibit A-2;

Exhibit A-4; and

Any Task Orders issued under Exhibit A-3.

Pa0TO

28. Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which
shall be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute together one and the same
instrument.

Iy
111
Iy

11



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the date
next to their signatures.

ALAMEDA CORRIDOR
TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

Date: By:
Michael Leue, P.E.
Chief Executive Officer
Attest:
Secretary

SPARKROCK U.S., INC. Doing
Business As SPARKROCK

Date: By:

Name:

Title:

Attest:

Name:

Title:

APPROVED AS TO FORM
, 2022
Michael N. Feuer, Los Angeles City Attorney

By

Heather M. McCloskey, Deputy
ACTA Co-General Counsel

12



Exhibit A

8888888888



Sparkrock U.S., Inc.
21750 Hardy Oak Blvd, Suite 104
PMB 82757, San Antonio, TX 78258

Order Form

Prepared for:
Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority
3760 Kilroy Airport Way, Suite 200
Leng Beach, CA 90806

Sparkrock products included

SR365 Order #

Order Date October 29, 2020
Payment Terms Upen Signature
Initial Subscription Term Start Date  November 10, 2020

Initial Subscription Term End Date  Nowember 9, 2025

Finance & Procurement Yes
Sparkrock users included Qy Monthly/User Annually/user Total
Sparkrock 365 Users
Sparkrock Full users 8 244 2,828 23,424
Sparkrock Manager users 10 27 324 3,240
Sparkrock Employee users 10 4 48 480
Total Licenses for Products before discount 27,144
Microsoft Power Platform Licensing
Add-Ons Monthly/User Annually/user Total
Power Bl Pro (# users) 15 10 120 1,800
Total Add-Ons 1,800
Jet Integration
Add-Ons Monthly/User Annually/user Total
Jet Reports Foundation Yes 143 1,716 1,716
Add-On Viewers 10 8 96 960
Add-On Designers 3 41 492 1476
Total Add-Ons 4,152
Support & Managed Services Plans Annual
Annual Support 10,000
Total Support 10,000
Total Before Discount 43,096
Discounts Term Discount
Initial Subscription Term Discount 5 -§1.448
Total Discount -$1.448
Payment Schedule Year3 Yeard
Annual 43,096 43,096
Term Discount - 5 YR - - - 1076 |-
Estimated CPI (2.5%) 1,407 2,243
Total USD (plus applicable sales taxes) 31,836 49,412 43,427 44,263 45120
PAID VIA Arctic IT PAID VIA Arctic IT To Be Invoiced To Be Invoiced To Be Invoiced

All software licensing in years 2-5 is subject to an annual increase of ‘the higher of 2.5% and CPI

Terms and Conditions

This Order Form, and Your use of the Sparkrock program and support and maintenance services identified above, is subject to, and governed by the initial subscription terms of the
Sparkrock Master Subscription Agreement included in the Sparkrock dacumentation package that accompanies this Order Form. By Signing this Order Farm, You hereby accept the terms
and conditions of the Sparkrock documentation package, including the Master Subscription Agreement, Service Level Comitiment, Statement of Work, and Third Party Software terms,

including the Microsoft Mandatary Terms, Microsoft Software License Terms, and Primo Pay EULA, etc. (as applicable)

Sparkrock U.S., Inc. Signature

Footnotes
148 * Sparkrack Full user licenses powered by Microsoft Dynamics 365 Business Central Essentials Full user licenses

B. Sparkrock Manager user licenses powered by Microsoft Dynamics 365 Team Member user licenses

C. Sparkrock Team user licenses provide acces to mySparkrock functionality.

a Corridor Tran




Exhibit A-1



Microsoft

Microsoft Customer Agreement

This Microsoft Customer Agreement (the "Agreement") is between Customer and Microsoft and
consists of these General Terms, the applicable Use Rights and SLAs, and any additional terms
Microsoft presents when an order is placed. This Agreement takes effect when the Customer
accepts these General Terms. The individual who accepts these General Terms represents that
he or she is authorized to enter into this Agreement on behalf of the Customer.

General Terms

These General Terms apply to all of Customer's orders under this Agreement. Capitalized terms
have the meanings given under "Definitions."

License to use Microsoft Products

d.

License grant. Products are licensed and not sold. Upon Microsoft's acceptance of each
order and subject to Customer's compliance with this Agreement, Microsoft grants
Customer a nonexclusive and limited license to use the Products ordered as provided in the
applicable Use Rights and this Agreement. These licenses are solely for Customer's own use
and business purposes and are nontransferable except as expressly permitted under this
Agreement or applicable law.

Duration of licenses. Licenses granted on a subscription basis expire at the end of the
applicable subscription period unless renewed. Licenses granted for metered Products billed
periodically based on usage continue as long as Customer continues to pay for its usage of
the Product. All other licenses become perpetual upon payment in full.

Applicable Use Rights. For perpetual licenses, the Use Rights in effect when Customer

orders a Product will apply. For subscriptions, the Use Rights in effect at the start of each
subscription period will apply. Customers with subscriptions for Software may use new
versions released during the subscription period subject to the Use Rights in effect when
those versions are released. For metered Products billed periodically based on usage, the
Use Rights in effect at the start of each billing period will apply during that period. Microsoft
may update the Use Rights periodically, but material adverse changes for a particular
version will not apply during the applicable license, subscription, or billing period.

End Users. Customer will control access to and use of the Products by End Users and is
responsible for any use of the Products that does not comply with this Agreement.

Affiliates. Customer may order Products for use by its Affiliates. If it does, the licenses
granted to Customer under this Agreement will apply to such Affiliates, but Customer will
have the sole right to enforce this Agreement against Microsoft. Customer will remain
responsible for all obligations under this Agreement and for its Affiliates' compliance with
this Agreement.

Reservation of Rights. Microsoft reserves all rights not expressly granted in this Agreement.
Products are protected by copyright and other intellectual property laws and international
treaties. No rights will be granted or implied by waiver or estoppel. Rights to access or use a

Microsoft Customer Agreement Page 1 of 11



=" Microsoft

Product on a device do not give Customer any right to implement Microsoft patents or other
Microsoft intellectual property in the device itself or in any other software or devices.

g. Restrictions. Except as expressly permitted in this Agreement or Product documentation,
Customer must not (and is not licensed to):

(1) reverse engineer, decompile, or disassemble any Product, or attempt to do so;

(2) install or use non-Microsoft software or technology in any way that would subject
Microsoft's intellectual property or technology to any other license terms;

(3) work around any technical limitations in a Product or restrictions in Product
documentation;

(4) separate and run parts of a Product on more than one device;
(5) upgrade or downgrade parts of a Product at different times;
(6) transfer parts of a Product separately; or

(7) distribute, sublicense, rent, lease, or lend any Products, in whole or in part, or use them
to offer hosting services to a third party.

h. License transfers. Customer may only transfer fully-paid, perpetual licenses to (1) an
Affiliate or (2) a third party solely in connection with the transfer of hardware to which, or
employees to whom, the licenses have been assigned as part of (a) a divestiture of all or
part of an Affiliate or (b) a merger involving Customer or an Affiliate. Upon such transfer,
Customer must uninstall and discontinue using the licensed Product and render any copies
unusable. Customer must notify Microsoft of a License transfer and provide the transferee a
copy of these General Terms, the applicable Use Rights and any other documents necessary
to show the scope, purpose and limitations of the licenses transferred. Attempted license
transfers that do not comply with this section are void.

i. Customer Eligibility. Customer agrees that if it is purchasing academic, government or
nonprofit offers, Customer meets the respective eligibility requirements
(https://aka.ms/eligiblitydefinition). Microsoft reserves the right to verify eligibility and
suspend product use if requirements are not met.

Non-Microsoft Products.

Non-Microsoft Products are provided under separate terms by the Publishers of such products.
Customer will have an opportunity to review those terms prior to placing an order for a Non-
Microsoft Product through a Microsoft online store or Online Service. Microsoft is not a party to
the terms between Customer and the Publisher. Microsoft may provide Customer's contact
information and transaction details to the Publisher. Microsoft makes no warranties and
assumes no responsibility or liability whatsoever for Non-Microsoft Products. Customer is solely
responsible for its use of any Non-Microsoft Product.

Veritying compliance.

Microsoft Customer Agreement Page 2 of 11



=" Microsoft

Customer must keep records relating to Products it and its Affiliates use or distribute. At
Microsoft's expense, Microsoft may verify Customer's and its Affiliates' compliance with this
Agreement at any time upon 30 days' notice. To do so, Microsoft may engage an independent
auditor (under nondisclosure obligations) or ask Customer to complete a self-audit process.
Customer must promptly provide any information and documents that Microsoft or the auditor
reasonably requests related to the verification and access to systems running the Products. If
verification or self-audit reveals any unlicensed use, Customer must, within 30 days, order
sufficient licenses to cover the period of its unlicensed use. Without limiting Microsoft's other
remedies, if unlicensed use is 5% or more of Customer's total use of all Products, Customer
must reimburse Microsoft for its costs incurred in verification and acquire sufficient licenses to
cover its unlicensed use at 125% of the then-current Customer price or the maximum allowed
under applicable law, if less. All information and reports related to the verification process will
be Confidential Information and used solely to verify compliance.

Privacy.

a. Personal Data. Customer consents to the processing of Personal Data by Microsoft and its
Affiliates, and their respective agents and subcontractors, as provided in this Agreement.
Before providing Personal Data to Microsoft, Customer will obtain all required consents from
third parties (including Customer's contacts, Partners, distributors, administrators, and
employees) under applicable privacy and data protection laws.

b. Locationof Personal Data. To the extent permitted by applicable law, Personal Data
collected under this Agreement may be transferred, stored and processed in the United
States or any other country in which Microsoft or its Affiliates, or their respective agents and
subcontractors, maintain facilities. Microsoft will abide by the requirements of European
Economic Area and Swiss data protection law regarding the collection, use, transfer,
retention, and other processing of Personal Data from the European Economic Area and
Switzerland.

Confidentiality.

a. Confidential Information. "Confidential Information" is non-public information that is
designated "confidential" or that a reasonable person should understand is confidential,
including, but not limited to, Customer Data, the terms of this Agreement, and Customer's
account authentication credentials. Confidential Information does not include information
that (1) becomes publicly available without a breach of a confidentiality obligation; (2) the
receiving party received lawfully from another source without a confidentiality obligation;
(3) is independently developed; or (4) is a comment or suggestion volunteered about the
other party's business, products or services.

b. Protection of Confidential Information. Each party will take reasonable steps to protect the
other's Confidential Information and will use the other party's Confidential Information only
for purposes of the parties' business relationship. Neither party will disclose Confidential
Information to third parties, except to its Representatives, and then only on a need-to-
know basis under nondisclosure obligations at least as protective as this Agreement. Each

Microsoft Customer Agreement Page 3 of 11



=" Microsoft

party remains responsible for the use of Confidential Information by its Representatives
and, in the event of discovery of any unauthorized use or disclosure, must promptly notify
the other party. The Online Services Terms may provide additional terms regarding the
disclosure and use of Customer Data.

Disclosure required by law. A party may disclose the other's Confidential Information if
required by law, but only after it notifies the other party (if legally permissible) to enable the
other party to seek a protective order.

Residual information. Neither party is required to restrict work assignments of its
Representatives who have had access to Confidential Information. Each party agrees that the
use of information retained in Representatives' unaided memories in the development or
deployment of the parties' respective products or services does not create liability under
this Agreement or trade secret law, and each party agrees to limit what it discloses to the
other accordingly.

Duration of Confidentiality obligation. These obligations apply (1) for Customer Data, until
itis deleted from the Online Services; and (2) for all other Confidential Information, for a
period of five years after a party receives the Confidential Information.

Product warranties.

a.

Limited warranties and remedies.

(1) OnlineServices. Microsoft warrants that each Online Service will perform in accordance
with the applicable SLA during Customer's use. Customer's remedies for breach of this
warranty are described in the SLA.

(2) Software. Microsoft warrants that the Software version that is current at the time will
perform substantially as described in the applicable Product documentation for one year
from the date Customer acquires a license for that version. If it does not, and Customer
notifies Microsoft within the warranty term, Microsoft will, at its option, (a) return the
price Customer paid for the Software license or (b) repair or replace the Software.

The remedies above are Customer's sole remedies for breach of the warranties in this section.
Customer waives any warranty claims not made during the warranty period.

Exclusions. The warranties in this Agreement do not apply to problems caused by accident,
abuse, or use inconsistent with this Agreement, including failure to meet minimum system

requirements. These warranties do not apply to free, trial, preview, or prerelease products,

or to components of Products that Customer is permitted to redistribute.

Disclaimer. Exceptforthe limited warranties above and subjectto applicable law, Microsoft
provides no other warranties or conditions for Products and disclaims any other express,
implied or statutory warranties for Products, including warranties of quality, title, non-
infringement, merchantability, and fitness for a particular purpose.

Microsoft Customer Agreement Page 4 of 11



=" Microsoft

Defense of third-party claims.

The
will
the

parties will defend each other against the third-party claims described in this section and
pay the amount of any resulting adverse final judgment or approved settlement, but only if
defending party is promptly notified in writing of the claim and has the right to control the

defense and any settlement of it. The party being defended must provide the defending party
with all requested assistance, information, and authority. The defending party will reimburse
the other party for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses itincurs in providing assistance. This

section describes the parties' sole remedies and entire liability for such claims.

a.

By Microsoft. Microsoft will defend Customer against any third-party claim to the extent it
alleges that a Product made available by Microsoft for a fee and used within the scope of the
license granted under this Agreement (unmodified from the form provided by Microsoft and
not combined with anything else), misappropriates a trade secret or directly infringes a
patent, copyright, trademark, or other proprietary right of a third party. If Microsoft is
unable to resolve a claim of misappropriation orinfringement, it may, at its option, either
(1) modify or replace the Product with a functional equivalent or (2) terminate Customer's
license and refund any license fees (less depreciation for perpetual licenses), including
amounts paid in advance for unused consumption for any usage period after the
termination date. Microsoft will not be liable for any claims or damages due to Customer's
continued use of a Product after being notified to stop due to a third-party claim.

By Customer. To the extent permitted by applicable law, Customer will defend Microsoft and
its Affiliates against any third-party claim to the extent it alleges that: (1) any Customer
Data or Non-Microsoft Product hosted in an Online Service by Microsoft on Customer's
behalf misappropriates a trade secret or directly infringes a patent, copyright, trademark, or
other proprietary right of a third party; or (2) Customer's use of any Product, alone or in
combination with anything else, violates the law or harms a third party.

Limitation of liability.

For

each Product, each party's maximum, aggregate liability to the other under this Agreement

is limited to direct damages finally awarded in an amount not to exceed the amounts Customer
was required to pay for the Products during the term of the applicable licenses, subject to the

following:

a. Subscriptions. For Products ordered on a subscription basis, Microsoft's maximum liability
to Customer for any incident giving rise to a claim will not exceed the amount Customer
paid for the Product during the 12 months before the incident.

b. Free Products anddistributable code. For Products provided free of charge and code that
Customer is authorized to redistribute to third parties without separate payment to
Microsoft, Microsoft's liability is limited to direct damages finally awarded up to US$5,000.

c. Exclusions. In no event will either party be liable for indirect, incidental, special, punitive,
or consequential damages, or loss of use, loss of profits, or interruption of business,
however caused or on any theory of liability.

d. Exceptions. No limitation or exclusions will apply to liability arising out of either party's (1)

confidentiality obligations (except for liability related to Customer Data, which will remain

Microsoft Customer Agreement Page 5of 11



=" Microsoft

subject to the limitations and exclusions above); (2) defense obligations; or (3) violation of
the other party's intellectual property rights.

Partners.

a. Selecting a Partner. Customer may authorize a Partner to place orders on Customer's behalf
and manage Customer's purchases by associating the Partner with its account. If the
Partner's distribution right is terminated, Customer must select an authorized replacement
Partner or purchase directly from Microsoft. Partners and other third parties are not agents
of Microsoft and are not authorized to enter into any agreement with Customer on behalf of
Microsoft.

b. Partner Administrator privileges and access to Customer Data. If Customer purchases Online
Services from a Partner or chooses to provide a Partner with administrator privileges, that
Partner will be the primary administrator of the Online Services and will have administrative
privileges and access to Customer Data and Administrator Data. Customer consents to
Microsoft and its Affiliates providing the Partner with Customer Data and Administrator Data
for purposes of provisioning, administering and supporting (as applicable) the Online
Services. Partner may process such data according to the terms of Partner's agreement with
Customer, and its privacy commitments may differ from Microsoft's. Customer appoints
Partner as its agent for purposes of providing and receiving notices and other
communications to and from Microsoft. Customer may terminate the Partner's
administrative privileges at any time.

c. Supportand Professional Services. Customer's Partner will provide details on support
services available for Products purchased under this agreement. Support services may be
performed by Partner or its designee, which in some cases may be Microsoft. If Customer
purchases Professional Services under this agreement, the performance of those
Professional Services will be subject to the terms and conditions in the Use Rights.

Pricing and payment.

If Customer orders from a Partner, the Partner will set Customer's pricing and payment terms
for that order, and Customer will pay the amount due to the Partner. Pricing and payment
terms related to orders placed by Customer directly with Microsoft are set by Microsoft, and
Customer will pay the amount due as described in this section.

a. Payment method. Customer must provide a payment method or, if eligible, choose to be
invoiced for purchases made on its account. By providing Microsoft with a payment method,
Customer (1) consents to Microsoft's use of account information regarding the selected
payment method provided by the issuing bank or applicable payment network; (2)
represents that it is authorized to use that payment method and that any payment
information it provides is true and accurate; (3) represents that the payment method was
established and is used primarily for commercial purposes and not for personal, family or
household use; and (4) authorizes Microsoft to charge Customer using that payment
method for orders under this Agreement.

Microsoft Customer Agreement Page 6 of 11



=" Microsoft

b.

Invoices. Microsoft may invoice eligible Customers. Customer's ability to elect payment by
invoice is subject to Microsoft's approval of Customer's financial condition. Customer
authorizes Microsoft to obtain information about Customer's financial condition, which may
include credit reports, to assess Customer's eligibility for invoicing. Unless the Customer's
financial statements are publicly available, Customer may be required to provide their
balance sheet, profit and loss and cash flow statements to Microsoft. Customer may be
required to provide security in a form acceptable to Microsoft to be eligible for invoicing.
Microsoft may withdraw Customer's eligibility at any time and for any reason. Customer
must promptly notify Microsoft of any changes in its company name or location and of any
significant changes in the ownership, structure, or operational activities of the organization.

Invoice Payment terms. Each invoice will identify the amounts payable by Customer to
Microsoft for the period corresponding to the invoice. Customer will pay all amounts due
within thirty (30) calendar days following the invoice date.

Late Payment. Microsoft may, at its option, assess a late fee on any payments to Microsoft
that are more than fifteen (15) calendar days past due at a rate of two percent (2%) of the
total amount payable, calculated and payable monthly, or the highest amount allowed by
law, if less.

Cancellation fee. If a subscription permits early termination and Customer cancels the
subscription before the end of the subscription or billing period, Customer may be charged
a cancellation fee.

Recurring Payments. For subscriptions that renew automatically, Customer authorizes
Microsoft to charge Customer's payment method periodically for each subscription or
billing period until the subscription is terminated. By authorizing recurring payments,
Customer authorizes Microsoft to process such payments as either electronic debits or fund
transfers, or as electronic drafts from the designated bank account (in the case of
Automated Clearing House or similar debits), as charges to the designated card account (in
the case of credit card or similar payments) (collectively, "Electronic Payments"). If any
payment is returned unpaid or if any credit card or similar transaction is rejected or denied,
Microsoft or its service providers reserve the right to collect any applicable return item,
rejection or insufficient funds fee to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law and
to process any such fees as an Electronic Payment or to invoice Customer for the amount
due.

Taxes. Microsoft prices exclude applicable taxes unless identified as tax inclusive. If any
amounts are to be paid to Microsoft, Customer shall also pay any applicable value added,
goods and services, sales, gross receipts, or other transaction taxes, fees, charges, or
surcharges, or any regulatory cost recovery surcharges or similar amounts that are owed
under this Agreement and that Microsoft is permitted to collect from Customer. Customer
shall be responsible for any applicable stamp taxes and for all other taxes that it is legally
obligated to pay including any taxes that arise on the distribution or provision of Products
by Customer to its Affiliates. Microsoft shall be responsible for all taxes based upon its net
income, gross receipts taxes imposed in lieu of taxes on income or profits, and taxes on its
property ownership.

Microsoft Customer Agreement Page 7 of 11



=" Microsoft

If any taxes are required to be withheld on payments invoiced by Microsoft, Customer may
deduct such taxes from the amount owed and pay them to the appropriate taxing authority,
but only if Customer promptly provides Microsoft an official receipt for those withholdings
and other documents reasonably requested to allow Microsoft to claim a foreign tax credit
or refund. Customer will ensure that any taxes withheld are minimized to the extent
possible under applicable law.

Term and termination.
a. Term. This Agreement is effective until terminated by a party, as described below.

b. Termination without cause. Either party may terminate this Agreement without cause on 60
days' notice. Termination without cause will not affect Customer's perpetual licenses, and
licenses granted on a subscription basis will continue for the duration of the subscription
period(s), subject to the terms of this Agreement.

¢. Termination forcause. Without limiting other remedies it may have, either party may
terminate this Agreement on 30 days' notice for material breach if the other party fails to
cure the breach within the 30-day notice period. Upon such termination, the following will
apply:
(1) All licenses granted under this Agreement will terminate immediately except for fully-
paid, perpetual licenses.

(2) All amounts due under any unpaid invoices shall become due and payable immediately.
For metered Products billed periodically based on usage, Customer must immediately
pay for unpaid usage as of the termination date.

(3) If Microsoft is in breach, Customer will receive a credit for any subscription fees,
including amounts paid in advance for unused consumption for any usage period after
the termination date.

d. Suspension. Microsoft may suspend use of an Online Service without terminating this
Agreement during any period of material breach. Microsoft will give Customer notice before
suspending an Online Service when reasonable.

e. Termination forregulatory reasons. Microsoft may modify, discontinue, or terminate a
Product in any country or jurisdiction where there is any current or future government
regulation, obligation, or other requirement, that (1) is not generally applicable to
businesses operating there; (2) presents a hardship for Microsoft to continue offering the
Product without modification; or (3) causes Microsoft to believe these terms or the Product
may conflict with any such regulation, obligation, or requirement. If Microsoft terminates a
subscription for regulatory reasons, Customer will receive, as its sole remedy, a credit for
any subscription fees, including amounts paid in advance for unused consumption for any
usage period after the termination date.

Miscellaneous.

a. Independent contractors. The parties are independent contractors. Customer and Microsoft
each may develop products independently without using the other's Confidential
Information.

Microsoft Customer Agreement Page 8 of 11



=" Microsoft

b.

Agreement not exclusive. Customer is free to enter into agreements to license, use, and
promote the products and services of others.

Amendments. Microsoft may modify this Agreement from time to time. Changes to the Use
Rights will apply as provided in this Agreement. Changes to other terms will not apply until
Customer accepts them. Microsoft may require Customer to accept revised or additional
terms before processing a new order. Any additional or conflicting terms and conditions
contained in a purchase order or otherwise presented by Customer are expressly rejected
and will not apply.

Assignment. Either party may assign this Agreement to an Affiliate, but it must notify the
other party in writing of the assignment. Customer consents to the assignment to an
Affiliate or third party, without prior notice, of any rights Microsoft may have under this
Agreement to receive payment and enforce Customer's payment obligations, and all
assignees may further assign such rights without further consent. Any other proposed
assignment of this Agreement must be approved by the non-assigning party in writing.
Assignment will not relieve the assigning party of its obligations under the assigned
Agreement. Any attempted assignment without required approval will be void.

U.S. export. Products are subject to U.S. export jurisdiction. Customer must comply with all
applicable international and national laws, including the U.S. Export Administration
Regulations, the International Traffic in Arms Regulations, and end-user, end use and
destination restrictions by U.S. and other governments related to Microsoft products,
services, and technologies.

Severability. If any part of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable, the rest of the
Agreement will remain in full force and effect.

Waiver. Failure to enforce any provision of this Agreement will not constitute a waiver. Any
waiver must be in writing and signed by the waiving party.

No third-party beneficiaries. This Agreement does not create any third-party beneficiary
rights except as expressly provided by its terms.

Survival. All provisions survive termination of this Agreement except those requiring
performance only during the term of the Agreement.

Notices. Notices must be in writing and will be treated as delivered on the date received at
the address, date shown on the return receipt, email transmission date, or date on the
courier or fax confirmation of delivery. Notices to Microsoft must be sent to the following
address:

Microsoft Corporation

Dept. 551, Volume Licensing
6100 Neil Road, Suite 210
Reno, Nevada 89511-1137
USA

Microsoft Customer Agreement Page 9 of 11



=" Microsoft

Notices to Customer will be sent to the individual at the address Customer identifies on its
account as its contact for notices. Microsoft may send notices and other information to
Customer by email or other electronic form.

k. Applicable law. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the
laws of the State of Washington and federal laws of the United States. The 1980 United
Nations Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods and its related
instruments will not apply to this Agreement.

I. Dispute resolution. When bringing any action arising under this Agreement, the parties
agree to the following exclusive venues:

(1) If Microsoft brings the action, the venue will be where Customer has its headquarters.

(2) If Customer brings the action against Microsoft or any Microsoft Affiliate located outside
of Europe, the venue will be the state or federal courts in King County, State of
Washington, USA.

(3) If Customer brings the action against Microsoft or any Microsoft Affiliate located in
Europe, and not also against Microsoft or a Microsoft Affiliate located outside of Europe,
the venue will be the Republic of Ireland.

The parties consent to personal jurisdiction in the agreed venue. This choice of venue does
not prevent either party from seeking injunctive relief in any jurisdiction with respect to a
violation of intellectual property rights or confidentiality obligations.

m. Order of precedence. These General Terms will take precedence over any conflicting terms
in other documents that are part of this Agreement that are not expressly resolved in those
documents, except that conflicting terms in the Use Rights take precedence over these
General Terms as to the applicable Products. Terms in the Online Services Terms take
precedence over conflicting terms in the Product Terms. Terms in an amendment control
over the amended document and any prior amendments concerning the same subject
matter.

n. Microsoft Affiliates and contractors. Microsoft may perform its obligations under this
Agreement through its Affiliates and use contractors to provide certain services. Microsoft
remains responsible for their performance.

o. Government procurement rules. By accepting this agreement, Customer represents and
warrants that (i) it has complied and will comply with all applicable government
procurement laws and regulations; (ii) it is authorized to enter into this Agreement; and (iii)
this Agreement satisfies all applicable procurement requirements.

Definitions.

"Administrator Data" means the information provided to Microsoft or its Affiliates during sign-
up, purchase, or administration of Products.

"Affiliate" means any legal entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control
with a party. "Control" means ownership of more than a 50% interest of voting securities in an
entity or the power to direct the management and policies of an entity.

Microsoft Customer Agreement Page 10 of 11



=" Microsoft

"Confidential Information" is defined in the "Confidentiality" section.
"Customer" means the entity identified as such on the account associated with this Agreement.

"Customer Data" means all data, including all text, sound, software, image or video files that
are provided to Microsoft or its Affiliates by, or on behalf of, Customer and its Affiliates through
use of Online Services.

"End User" means any person Customer permits to use a Product or access Customer Data.

"Licensing Site" means http://www.microsoft.com/licensing/contracts or a successor site.

"Microsoft" means Microsoft Corporation.

"Non-Microsoft Product” means any third-party-branded software, data, service, website or
product, unless incorporated by Microsoft in a Product.

"Online Services" means Microsoft-hosted services to which Customer subscribes under this
Agreement. It does notinclude software and services provided under separate license terms.

"Online Services Terms" means the additional terms that apply to Customer's use of Online
Services published on the Licensing Site and updated from time to time.

"Partner" means a company Microsoft has authorized to distribute Products to Customer.
"Personal Data" means any information relating to an identified or identifiable natural person.

"Product” means all Software and Online Services identified in the Product Terms that Microsoft
offers under this Agreement, including previews, prerelease versions, updates, patches and bug
fixes from Microsoft. Product availability may vary by region. "Product" does not include Non-
Microsoft Products.

"Product Terms" means the document that provides information about Products available under
this Agreement. The Product Terms document is published on the Licensing Site and is updated from
time to time.

"Publisher" means a provider of a Non-Microsoft Product.
"Representatives" means a party's employees, Affiliates, contractors, advisors and consultants.

"SLA" means Service Level Agreement, which specifies the minimum service level for the Online
Services and is published on the Licensing Site.

"Software" means licensed copies of Microsoft software identified in the Product Terms.
Software does not include Online Services, but Software may be part of an Online Service.

"use" means to copy, download, install, run, access, display, use or otherwise interact with.

"Use Rights" means the license terms and terms of service for each Product published on the
Licensing Site and updated from time to time. The Use Rights supersede the terms of any end
user license agreement that accompanies a Product. License terms for all Products are
published in the Product Terms. Terms of service for Online Services are published in the Online
Services Terms.

Microsoft Customer Agreement Page 11 of 11


http://www.microsoft.com/licensing/contracts

Exhibit A-1(a)
MANDATORY MICROSOFT TERMS: SUBSCRIPTION

. Customer may access and log onto the Microsoft Dynamics 365 Business Central hub, a benefit
provided fto all Microsoft customers with an active license plan by logging onto the address:
https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/dynamics365/business-central/?source=docs. This site provides gated
access fo important Microsoft documents to help provide further information on Microsoft Dynamics
365 Business Central.

. Customer acknowledges that Customer’s agreement with Sparkrock, and not Microsoft’s software
license terms, governs Customer’s use of the Sparkrock Software and all Customizations.

. Customer must have enough licenses issued by Microsoft for all Microsoft Dynamics 365 Business
Cenftral software licensed to support the maximum number of users and/or devices that may access
or use the Sparkrock Software and/or any Customization.

. Customer further acknowledges that Sparkrock is solely responsible for the Sparkrock Software, and
that (except for license rights granted to Sparkrock under separate agreement as required to
develop the Sparkrock Software and/or Customizations), Microsoft has no responsibility for the
Sparkrock Software nor any Customization or any effect they may have on the functionality of the
Microsoft Dynamics 365 Business Central product listed in Customer Quote or Customer’s systems,
business or operations.

. Customer expressly acknowledges that the subscription duration to the Microsoft Dynamics 365
Business Central product is for a limited tferm. Upon expirafion or tferminatfion of this Agreement,
Customer will no longer have the right to use the Microsoft Dynamics 365 Business Central product.
Customer hereby agrees to allow Sparkrock (or any third party designated by Sparkrock) to remove
all copies of the Microsoft Dynamics 365 Business Central product after expiration or termination of
this Agreement. Customer’s use of the Microsoft Dynamics 365 Business Central product after
expiration or termination of this Agreement is a violation of international copyright laws and the
Microsoft Third Party License Terms (as defined in your Sparkrock agreement).

. Microsoft may disable Customer’s subscription. Depending on the subscription, this may mean that
Customer will have limited or no access to the Microsoft Dynamics 365 Business Central product.
Microsoft will not be liable in any manner whatsoever to Customer arising out of Microsoft's disabling
the Customer’s subscription. Microsoft reserves the right to terminate a subscription, at any time, in
response to an intellectual property infingement claim against Microsoft or according to a court or
other governmental order.

. Customer has licensed the Microsoft Dynamics 365 Business Central product on a per use basis for a
limited period. If the license expires or terminates, Customer’s right to use the software will stop
immediately. If Customer continues to use the Microsoft Dynamics 365 Business Central product after
its license expires, Customer acknowledges it could be held liable for infringement of intellectual
property rights, which could result in significant damages being assessed against Customer or other
legal remedies.

. Servers on which the Microsoft Dynamics 365 Business Central product is installed will from time to
fime perform a validation check of the software, as detailed in the Microsoft Third Party License Terms
(as defined in your Sparkrock agreement). Validation verifies that the software has been properly


https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/dynamics365/business-central/?source=docs

licensed. It also verifies that no unauthorized changes have been made to the validation features of
the software.



Exhibit A-2



SPARKROCK

CUSTOMER AGREEMENT

THIS CUSTOMER AGREEMENT GOVERNS YOUR PURCHASE OF A SOFWTARE SUBSCRIPTION
LICENSE AGREEMENT FROM SPARKROCK, AND USE OF THECLOUD-BASED SPARKROCK
SOFTWARE-AS-A-SERVICE PRODUCT “SPARKROCK CLOUDSERVICES" AND ALL RELATED
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES PROVIDED BY US TO YOU FROM TIME TO TIME (COLLECTIVELY,
WITH THE SPARKROCK CLOUD SERVICES, THE “SERVICES"). YOU AGREE TO BE BOUND BY
THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT. IF YOU ARE ENTERING INTO THIS
AGREEMENT ON BEHALF OF A COMPANY OR OTHER LEGAL ENTITY, YOU REPRESENT THAT
YOU HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO BIND SUCH ENTITY TO THIS AGREEMENT, AND IN SUCH CASE,
THE TERMS "YOU" OR "YOUR" SHALL REFER TO SUCH ENTITY. PLEASE REVIEW THIS AGREEMENT
CAREFULLY, AS IT FORMS A LEGALLY BINDING AGREEMENT BETWEEN US AND YOU. IT IS
RECOMMENDED THAT YOU PRINT AND RETAIN A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT FOR YOUR
RECORDS. BY ACCEPTING THE MICROSOFT CUSTOMER AGREEMENT AND THE SPARKROCK
CUSTOMER AGREEMENT, YOU ACCEPT THESCOPE OF WORK TERMS AND CONDITIONS
PROVIDED BY SPARKROCK.

1. THE SPARKROCK CLOUD SERVICES

1.1 Provision of Cloud Services. Subject to and conditioned on your compliance with
this Agreement, we will make the Sparkrock Cloud Services available to you. The
Sparkrock Cloud Services consist of Sparkrock proprietary software (“SparkrockSoftware™)
and third party proprietary software (“Third Party Software™), each as identified on your
Scope of Work, including without limitation, certain products of Microsoft Corporation
and and/or other licensors and their respective affiliates for whichseparate license
acknowledgments have been provided to you with this Agreement. The Sparkrock Cloud
Services include all updates and upgrades to the Sparkrock Cloud Services made
generally available by us to our customers from time to time, as well as our standard
support services, which may vary according to the support package purchased by you.
The Sparkrock Cloud Services may only be accessed and used by your employees,
contfractors and other personnel who are authorized by you to access and use the
Sparkrock Cloud Services on your behalf (“Users”), and you are liable for theircompliance
with this Agreement. Users may not be any of our direct competitors.

1.2 Subscriptions; Usage Limits. The Sparkrock Cloud Services are purchased as
subscriptions, and are subject to those usage limits, including number of Users, defined

SPARKROCK

TORONTO | CHICAGO
+1866.878.5552 | www.sparkrock.com

Page1


http://www.sparkrock.com/

within the applicable SOW. User login IDs, passwords, or other means of logging in o
access and use the Sparkrock Cloud Services (“Access Credentials”) may not be shared
with any other individual. Additional subscriptions may be added during a subscriptfion
term at our standard price then in effect, prorated for the portion of that subscription
term remaining at the time the subscriptions are added, and any added subscriptions will
terminate on the same date as your underlying subscription.

1.3 Your Responsibilities. You are responsible for: (a) procuring and maintaining the
network connections that connect your network to the Sparkrock Cloud Services and
licensing of third party products that inter-operate with Sparkrock Cloud Services,
including without limitation, certain products and services supplied by Microsoft
Corporation and/or its aoffiliates; (b) the accuracy, quality and legality of all data,
information, and other materials submitted by or on your behalf to, or processed using,
the Services (“Your Data”); (c) prevent unauthorized access to or use of the Sparkrock
Cloud Services; (d) using the Sparkrock Cloud Services only in accordance with
Sparkrock’s guidelines and documentation and applicable laws, rules, and government
regulations, including those relating to data privacy, spam, and transmission of technical
data ("Applicable Law”); and (e) maintaining the confidentiality of all Access
Credentials. You will immediately notify us if you become aware of any loss or theft of
such Access Credentials or of any other unauthorized access, use, or disclosure of the
Sparkrock Cloud Services or Customer Data.

1.4 Restrictions. You agree that you will not: (a) make the Sparkrock Cloud Services
available to, or use the Sparkrock Cloud Services for the benefit of, anyone other than
your organization; (b) sell, resell, license, sublicense, distribute, rent or lease the Sparkrock
Cloud Services or include the Sparkrock Cloud Services in any service bureau or
outsourcing offering; (c) use the Sparkrock Cloud Services to send spam or other
unsolicited messages in violation of Applicable Law, or to store, display, or send any
information, data, or other material that is obscene, harassing, libelous, defamatory, or
threatening, illegal, or tortious; (d) copy, translate, reverse engineer, disassemble,
decompile, or create a derivative work of the Sparkrock Cloud Services or Deliverables
(or any underlying structure, algorithms, software, or technology) or otherwise attempt to
discover any source code of, or modify, the Sparkrock Cloud Services in any form or
manner unless expressly allowed by us in our user documentation; (e) use the Services for
the purpose of benchmarking, or for building a similar or competitive product or service;
(f) use the Sparkrock Cloud Services to tfransmit any code, files, scripts, agents, or program
infended to do harm or deny access, including, for example, viruses, worms, time bomibs
and Trojan horses; (g) interfere with or disrupt the integrity or performance of the
Sparkrock Cloud Services; (h) frame or mirror the Sparkrock Cloud Services; (i) attempt to
gain unauthorized access to the Sparkrock Cloud Services; (j) disable, tfamper with, or
otherwise attempt to circumvent any biling mechanism that meters your use of the

SPARKROCK

TORONTO | CHICAGO
+1866.878.5552 | www.sparkrock.com

Pagez


http://www.sparkrock.com/

Sparkrock Cloud Services; or (k) remove, alter, or obscure any frademark, copyright, or
other proprietary rights notices on any Sparkrock materials.

1.5 Changes. We may modify, update, and upgrade the Sparkrock Cloud Services
from time to time in our sole discretion. We will use reasonable efforts to give you at least
75 days prior notice before removing any material features or functionality, unlesssecurity,
legal, or system performance considerations require an expedited removal or unless any
applicable licensor has provided less notice to us of any such change.

1.6 Availability. We provide a Service Level Commitment. For any breach of this
uptime commitment, your exclusive remedy, and our sole liability, is to request a service
level credit, as further described in the Service Level Commitment.

2.  YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES

2.1 Provision of Required Information. You are responsible, at your sole cost, to provide
us with all information reasonably required by us in order to provide Sparkrock Cloud
Services in a fimely manner. You acknowledge that any delay or failure by you in fulfiling
your tasks and responsibilities, may result in delays to the schedule or availability of
Sparkrock Cloud Services and/or increased fees from those set out in any SOW.

3.  FEES AND PAYMENT

3.1 Fees. You will pay all fees specified in any applicable SOW on the dates or at the
frequency set out therein (Monthly or Yearly Software Subscription Fees). Except as
otherwise specified herein orin an SOW: (a) subscription fees are based on the Sparkrock
Cloud Services purchased and not actual usage, (b) subscription fees are payable in
advance; and (c) subscription fees paid for the Sparkrock Cloud Services are non-
refundable. You are responsible for providing complete and accurate biling and
contact information to us, and for keeping such information up to date at all fimes.

3.2 Taxes. Our fees do not include any taxes, levies, duties or similar governmental
assessments of any nature and assessable by any jurisdiction whatsoever, including, for
example, value-added, sales, use, or withholding taxes (collectively, 'Taxes"). You are
responsible for, and will pay, all Taxes associated with your purchases hereunder. If we
have the legal obligation to pay or collect Taxes for which you are responsible under this
Section, we will invoice you, and you will pay that amount, unless you provide us with a
valid tax exemption certificate authorized by the appropriate taxing authority. For clarity,
we are solely responsible for taxes assessable against us based on our income, property
and employees. If any Taxes are required to be withheld, you shall pay an amount to us
such that the net amount payable to us after withholding of taxes shall equal the amount
that would have been otherwise payable under this Agreement.

SPARKROCK

TORONTO | CHICAGO
+1866.878.5552 | www.sparkrock.com

Page3


http://www.sparkrock.com/

3.3 Payment. Invoices are due and payable upon receipt, unless otherwise stated in
the applicable SOW or invoice. If you object to all or any portion of an invoice, you must
notify us of the objection within twenty (20) days after the invoice date, identify the cause
of disagreement, and pay, when due, that portion of the invoice not in dispute. Any
undisputed invoiced amount not received by us on the due date will bear interest at the
rate of 1.5% per month (18% per annum) or the maximum amount allowed by law,
whichever is less.

4. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS AND OWNERSHIP

4.1 Sparkrock Intellectual Property Rights. All software (including the Sparkrock
Software and Third Party Software), documentation, workflow processes, user interface,
design, know-how and other technologies or materials underlying the Services, as well as
any modifications, configurations, customizations, enhancements or upgrades to any of
the foregoing, are our (and/or our Licensors') confidential proprietary property
("Sparkrock Intellectual Property”). Except as set expressly set forth herein, we (and/or
our Licensors) reserve all right, title and interest in and to the Sparkrock Intellectual
Property, and all other related intellectual property rights.

4.2 Your Intellectual Property Rights. Except as set forth herein, you reserve all right, title
and interest in and to Your Data and all intellectual property rights related thereto. You
hereby grant us and our Licensors and other third-party services providers a non-
exclusive, non-fransferable (except in connection with a permitted assignment of this
Agreement) and royalty-free license for the Term to access and use your Data and any
other data, information or materials made available to us to provide the Services to you.

4.3 License Grant. We grant you a non-exclusive, non-transferable, non-sublicensable
license for the Term to access and use the Sparkrock Software and Deliverables as part
of your use of the Sparkrock Cloud Services in accordance with any applicable SOW and
this Agreement.

4.4 Third Party Software. You acknowledge that the Third Party Software made
available to you as part of the Sparkrock Cloud Services is licensed by the applicable
third party to you solely in accordance with separate end user license agreements or
software licensing terms or software agreements (the '"Third Party License Terms')
referenced in and provided with this Agreement. We make no warranty, promise, or
indemnity with respect to any Third Party Software, such software being provided and
warranted solely by the third party licensor named in the applicable Third Party License
Terms (each, a "Licensor"”). You agree to be bound by each of the Third Party License
Terms. The Third Party License Terms constitute separate legal agreements between you
and the applicable Licensor. You acknowledge that each Licensor is a third party
beneficiary of this Agreement with the right to enforce this Agreement directly against

SPARKROCK

TORONTO | CHICAGO
+1866.878.5552 | www.sparkrock.com

Page4


http://www.sparkrock.com/

you, verify your compliance with this Agreement, and contact you directly. You authorize
us to share information about you (including the terms and conditions of this Agreement
and any applicable SOW including financial terms, as well as limited personal information
about your designated contact person) with each Licensor (i.e.: Microsoft) as required to
allow us to collaborate with Licensors in order to provide the Services to you, to enable
the Licensors to provide services and communications directly to you, and to allow each
Licensor to verify your compliance with the Third Party License Terms.

4.5 Suggestions and Usage Data. If you provide any suggestions, recommendations or
other feedback relating to the features, functions or operation of the Services, you grant
us a worldwide, perpetual, irevocable, royalty-free license to use, modify, creative
derivative works from, distribute, perform, reproduce, and display the feedback in any
manner and for any purpose without obligation to you. You also acknowledge and
agree that we may collect and use information relating to the performance, and your
use, of the Sparkrock Cloud Services (which may include elements of Your Data)
provided that Your Data is anonymized and aggregated with data from other customers.
Such anonymized and aggregated data will be owned solely by us, and may be used
by us for any purpose, including to provide and improve the Services, to conduct
research and analysis, and to market our services.

5.  CONFIDENTIALITY AND SECURITY

5.1 Definition. “Confidential Information” means all non-public, proprietary
information disclosed by a party (“Discloser”) to the other party (“Recipient”), whether
orally or in writing, that is designated as confidential or that reasonably should be
understood to be confidential given the nature of the information and the circumstances
of disclosure. Our Confidential Information includes the Services (including all underlying
software, workflow processes, user interfaces, documentation, know-how and other
technologies) and the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including pricing. Your
Data is your Confidential Information (subject to the above exclusion regarding
aggregated and anonymized usage data). Confidential Information does not include
information that: (a) is or becomes generally known to the public without breach by
Recipient of its obligations under this Agreement; (b) is received from a third party without
breach of any obligation owed to Discloser; (c) was known to Recipient prior to its
disclosure by Discloser; or (d) is independently developed by Recipient without use or
access to the Confidential Information of Discloser.

5.2 Protection of Confidential Information. All Confidential Information of Discloser
delivered, made available, or otherwise acquired pursuant to this Agreement: (a) may
not be copied, distributed, disseminated or made available in any way or form by
Recipient without the prior written consent of Discloser; (b) will be maintained in strict
confidence by Recipient using the same degrees of care that it uses to protect the

SPARKROCK

TORONTO | CHICAGO
+1866.878.5552 | www.sparkrock.com

Page5


http://www.sparkrock.com/

confidentiality of its own confidential information (but in no event less than reasonable
care); (c) may only be disclosed to those employees, affiliates, contractors, licensors,
and/or service providers of Recipient who have a need to know in connection with
purposes consistent with this Agreement, and only where such employees, affiliates,
contractors, licensors, and/or service providers are bound by a written obligation of
confidentiality no less restrictive than this Section; and (d) will not be used by Recipient
for any purpose, except for the purposes of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Recipient may disclose Confidential Information of Discloser to the extent
required by law, court order or other governmental order; provided that Recipient
provides Discloser with prior notice of such compelled disclosure to the extent legally
permissible. If Recipient is compelled by law to disclose the Discloser’'s Confidential
Information as part of a proceeding to which Recipient is not a party, Discloser will
reimburse Recipient for reasonable costs of compiling and securely transmitting the
Confidential Information.

5.3 Security. We will employ technical and organization measures, internal controls,
and data security routines designed to protect Your Data against unauthorized change,
disclosure, access, or loss. The Sparkrock Cloud Services rely upon security practices and
features of the underlying systems on which Sparkrock Cloud Services operate as
provided by Microsoft Corporation and its affiliates. Your Data will be stored on servers
located in the United States. You acknowledge that as Your Data is fransmitted between
the data center and your offices, Your Data is fransmitted through the internet and, as
such, may transit locations outside your country of origin, without ever storing Your Data
in such locations. Data transmitted through the Internet will be encrypted for your
protection; however, the security of fransmissions over the Internet cannot be
guaranteed. We will not be responsible for any interception or interruption of any
communications through the Internet or changes to or losses of data through the Internet.
In order to protect Your Data, we may suspend your access to the Sparkrock Cloud
Services immediately, without notice, pending an investigation if any breach of security
is suspected.

6.  WARRANTIES AND REMEDY

6.1 Mutual Warranties. Each of us warrants to the other that: (a) it is duly organized,
validly existing and in good standing as a corporation or other entity under the
Applicable Laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation; (b) it has the full right, power and
authority to enter into this Agreement; (c) the execution of this Agreement by its
representative whose signature is set forth at the end of this Agreement has been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate or organizational action of such party; and (d)
when executed and delivered by both parties, this Agreement will constitute the legal,
valid and binding obligation of such party, enforceable against such party in
accordance with its ferms.

SPARKROCK

TORONTO | CHICAGO
+1866.878.5552 | www.sparkrock.com

Page6


http://www.sparkrock.com/

6.2 Sparkrock Warranties. We warrant that: (a) the Sparkrock Cloud Services will
operate in all material respects in accordance with the applicable Sparkrock user
documentation and specifications; and (b) we will perform Sparkrock Cloud Services in
a good and workmanlike manner.

6.3 Remedy. Our warranties set forth in Section 6.2 are conditional upon you promptly
reporting to us any actual or suspected defects in order that we may take prompt,
appropriate measures to correct such defect. Upon notice from you of any warranty
claim, we will, in our discrefion, correct or replace the Sparkrock Cloud Services or
applicable deliverables, or re-perform the defective services, at no additional charge;
provided that if the foregoing is not reasonably possible, we may terminate this
Agreement and provide you with a refund of any fees prepaid by you for the future
portion of the subscription term that would have remained but for such termination. If we
do not cure a warranty breach within a reasonable period of time or terminate this
Agreement in accordance with the preceding sentence, you may terminate this
Agreement for cause pursuant to Section 8.2, in which case we will promptly refund to
you, on a pro rata basis, any fees prepaid by you for the future portion of the subscription
term that would have remained but for such termination. The remedies set forth in this
Section will be your sole remedy, and our sole liability, for any warranty breach.

Disclaimer. WE MAKE NO OTHER GUARANTEES OR WARRANTIES IN RESPECT OF THE
SERVICES OR ANY DELIVERABLE, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE.
WE SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OR CONDITIONS OF
MERCHANTABILITY, TITLE, NONINFRINGEMENT, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, DATA
ACCURACY, OR ARISING FROM COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE OR TRADE PRACTICE, TO
THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW. WARRANTIES IN RESPECT OF THE
SPARKROCK CLOUD SERVICES ARE VOID IF THE SPARKROCK CLOUD SERVICES OR
DELIVERABLE, AS APPLICABLE, FAILS OR OTHERWISE MALFUNCTIONS AS A RESULT OF
ACCIDENT, ABUSE, OR USE BY YOU IN BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT. NOTWITHSTANDING
ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY IN THIS AGREEMENT, WE DO NOT WARRANT: (1) THAT THE
SERVICES WILL BE ERROR-FREE IN ALL CIRCUMSTANCES; OR (2) THAT THE SERVICES WILL
MEET YOUR OR ANY OTHER PERSON'S REQUIREMENTS, OPERATE WITHOUT INTERRUPTION,
OR ACHIEVE ANY INTENDED RESULT.

7.  INDEMNITIES AND LIABILITY

7.1 Our Indemnity. We will defend you, your affiliates, and your and their respective
directors, officers, employees, subcontractors, and agents (collectively “Customer
Indemnitees”) against any claim, demand, suit or proceeding brought against Customer
Indemnitees by a third party alleging that Customer Indemnitees’ use of the Sparkrock
Software or any Deliverable in accordance with this Agreement infringes or
misappropriates any valid Canadian or United States patent, copyright, trademark, or

SPARKROCK

TORONTO | CHICAGO
+1866.878.5552 | www.sparkrock.com

Page7


http://www.sparkrock.com/

trade secret (an “Infringement Claim”), and will indemnify Customer Indemnitees from
any damages, reasonable legal fees, and costs awarded against them (or included in a
settflement approved by us) as a result of an Infringement Claim; provided you: (a)
prompftly give us written notice of the Infringement Claim; (b) give us sole control of the
defense and settlement of the Infringement Claim (except that we may noft seftle any
Infringement Claim unless it unconditionally releases Customer Indemnitees of all liability);
and (c) give us all reasonable assistance, at our expense. If all or any part of the Sparkrock
Software or any Deliverable is, in our opinion, likely to or do become the subject of a
claim of infringement or misappropriation, we may, in our discretion and at no cost to
you: (i) modify or replace the Sparkrock Software or any Deliverable so that it is no longer
infringing; (i) use reasonable efforts to procure the right to permit you to continue to use
the Sparkrock Software or Deliverable; or (i) terminate this Agreement on notice to you
and refund you any fees paid by you for the future portion of the subscription term that
would have remained but for such termination. The above defense and indemnification
obligations do not apply to the extent an Infringement Claim arises from Your Data, any
Third Party Software or your breach of this Agreement. This section states your exclusive
remedy, and our sole liability, in respect of any Infringement Claim.

7.2  Your Indemnity. You will defend us, our affiliates, and our and their respective
directors, officers, employees, subcontractors, licensors, and agents (collectively
“Sparkrock Indemnitees”) against any claim, demand, suit or proceeding brought
against Sparkrock Indemnitees by a third party arising out of or related to: (a) Your Data;
(b) any use by you of the Sparkrock Cloud Services or Deliverables contrary to the terms
of this Agreement; or (c) any other breach by you of this Agreement (a “Claim Against
us”), and willindemnify Sparkrock Indemnitees from any damages, reasonable legal fees, and
costs awarded against them (or included in a settlement approved by you) as a result of
a Claim Against us; provided we: (a) promptly give you written notice of the Claim
Against us; (b) give you sole control of the defense and settlement of the Claim against
us (except that you may not settle any Claim Against us unless it unconditionallyreleases
Sparkrock Indemnitees of all liability); and (c) give you all reasonable assistance,at your
expense.

7.3 Cooperation. Each of us will cooperate with the other in maintaining a consistent
position wth respect to any opposing parties during the pendency of the indemnified
claim and shall resolve all issues of relative responsibility, liability, or blameworthiness of
the parties after the claim is resolved; any claims based on the foregoing shall be tolled
during the pendency of the indemnified claim. To the extent Sparkrock has carriage of
any such claim, all inquiries and communications from any opposing party shall be
referred by you to Sparkrock.

7.4 Limitation of Liability. EXCEPT FOR EACH PARTY'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE, WILLFUL
MISCONDUCT, AND INDEMNIFICATION OBLIGATIONS, AND YOUR LIABILITY FOR ANY

SPARKROCK

TORONTO | CHICAGO
+1866.878.5552 | www.sparkrock.com

Page8


http://www.sparkrock.com/

BREACH OF SECTION 1.4, IN NO EVENT: (A) WILL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOST
DATA, LOST PROFITS OR REVENUES, OR INDIRECT, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL,
EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, WHETHER AN ACTION IS IN CONTRACT OR TORT
(INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE) REGARDLESS OF THE THEORY OF LIABILITY, EVEN IF THE PARTY
HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES; OR (B) WILL OUR AGGREGATE
LIABILITY UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE
SERVICES OR ANY DELIVERABLES EXCEED THE AMOUNT OF FEES ACTUALLY RECEIVED BY
SPARKROCK FOR THE SPARKROCK CLOUD SERVICES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT WITHIN THE
SIX (6) MONTHS PRECEDING THE EVENT GIVING RISE TO THE LIABILITY. THE FOREGOING
DISCLAIMERS AND LIMITATIONS WILL APPLY TO FULLEST EXTENT ALLOWABLE BY LAW; AND
REGARDLESS OF THE THEORY OF LIABILITY, WHETHER AN ACTION IS IN CONTRACT OR TORT
(INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE) OR OTHERWISE.

8.  TERM, TERMINATION AND SUSPENSION

8.1 Term. The term of this Agreement will commence on the date of the initial SOW
entered info hereunder, and will continue until all subscriptions hereunder have expired
or been terminated as specified in the applicable SOW Form (the “Term”). The initial
subscription term for the Sparkrock Cloud Services shall be that period specified in the
applicable SOW. Thereafter, subscriptions will automatically renew for additional periods
equal fo the expiring subscription term or one year (whichever is shorter), unless either
party gives the other party written notice of non-renewal at least 20 days before the end
of the then-current subscription term. We reserve the right to increase the subscription fee
for any renewal subscription ferm upon prior notfice to you.

8.2 Termination For Cause. Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause: (a)
upon 30 days’ written notice to the other party of a material breach by such other party
if such breach remains uncured at the expiration of such period; or (b) if the other party
becomes the subject of a petition in bankruptcy or any other proceeding relating to
insolvency, receivership, liquidation or assignment for the benefit of creditors, or all or a
substantial portion of the assets of the other party are transferred to an assignee for the
benefit of creditors, to areceiver, or to a trustee in bankruptcy.

8.3 Additional Termination Right. Additionally, we may terminate this Agreement in the
event that any unforeseen change or fact outside of our reasonable control materially
adversely impacts our ability to provide the Sparkrock Cloud Services, our costs in
providing the Sparkrock Cloud Services, or if we otherwise discontinue the Sparkrock
Cloud Services across all customers. We will use reasonable efforts to provide you with as
much notice of termination of this Agreement under this Section as possible.

8.4 Suspension. We also reserve the right to suspend your access to, and use of, the
Services if we (in good faith) believe that you have violated the terms of this Agreement,

SPARKROCK

TORONTO | CHICAGO
+1866.878.5552 | www.sparkrock.com

Page9


http://www.sparkrock.com/

if your use of the Services is causing immediate, material and ongoing harm to us or any
other of our customers or if any undisputed amounts owing by you to us under this
Agreement are 30 days or more overdue. We will provide you with prompt notice of such
suspension and will reinstate the Services upon resolution of the issue or breach.

8.5 Export of Data. Unless we have terminated this Agreement for cause under Section
8.2, upon any request from you made within 90 days after the effective date of
termination or expiration of this Agreement, we will make Your Data available for export
or download. After such 90-day period, we will have no obligation to maintain or provide
any of Your Data, and may thereafter delete or destroy all copies of Your Data in our
systems or otherwise in our possession or control, unless legally prohibited.

9. AUDIT.

During the term of this Agreement, you will maintain records reasonably required to verify
your compliance with this Agreement (the “Records”). Upon at least 30 days’ written
notice to you, and not less than 12 months since a prior audit, we or our designated
representative will be enfifled to audit and inspect the Records. Any Sparkrock
representative that audits or inspects the Records shall be bound by confidentiality
obligations with respect to the Records no less restrictive than those that would be
applicable under this Agreement to us in the same circumstances. In addition, we may
use remote monitoring technology to verify your compliance with the licensing terms of
this Agreement.

10. NOTICE.

10.1  All nofices given by either party to the other party under this Agreement shall be
in writing and personally delivered or sent by guaranteed overnight courier or email to
the applicable address(es) for you as listed on the most recent SOW and, in the case of
Sparkrock, by email to sales@sparkrock.com. Notices under this Section will be deemed
given: (a) at the time of actual delivery if made in person; (b) one day after delivery to
an overnight air courier service; or (c) if by email, when sent, with confirmation of
transmission. Either party may change its address for notices on notice to the other party.
Except for communications concerning operational maintenance (including downtime)
or support services, any notice by email will be effective only if a signed scanned letter is
attached to the email.

11. ELECTRONIC COUNTERPARTS.

Any SOW entered info hereunder may be executed in any number of counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute
one and the same instrument, provided that identical counterparts are executed by
both parties. These counterparts may include those forwarded by facsimile fransmission

SPARKROCK

TORONTO | CHICAGO
+1866.878.5552 | www.sparkrock.com

Page1 O


http://www.sparkrock.com/
mailto:sales@sparkrock.com

or electronically by email, and the facsimile or electronic signature of any party to this
Agreement shall be deemed to be effective to bind such party to the terms of this
Agreement as part, and parcel of the SOW.

12. GENERAL

Jurisdiction: (a) this Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of New York
without regard to its conflicts of laws rules or the United Nations Convention on the
International Sale of Goods; (b) the applicable state and federal courts located in New
York County, New York will have exclusive jurisdiction to adjudicate any disputes arising
out of orrelating to this Agreement; and (c) each party consents and irrevocably submits
to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of such courts in any suit, action, or proceeding.

Nofice in accordance with this Agreement shall be effective service of process for any
suit, action, or other proceeding brought in any such court.

In the event of litigation, each party expressly waives its right to have its claims or defenses
heard by a jury.

Neither party shall be deemed the drafter of this Agreement.

Either party will be excused from performance for any period of time that the party is
prevented from performing its obligations hereunder as a result of an act of God, war,
earthquake, epidemic, terrorism, threat of terrorism, civil disobedience, court order, labor
dispute, or other cause beyond the party’'s reasonable control.

You may not assign or delegate this Agreement or any right or obligation under this
Agreement without our prior written consent, and any purported assignment or
delegation in violation of this sentence will be null and void. You acknowledge that we
may assign this Agreement at any time, and may also utilize contractors and other third
parties to provide the Services, provided that we remain responsible for all such persons
(except we will not be responsible for Licensors, with whom you have Third Party License
Terms).

This Agreement is the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof, and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, proposal or
representations, written or oral, concerning its subject matter. The parties acknowledge
and agree that they have not relied on any other commitments or representations of any
kind in entering into this Agreement. In the event of a conflict between this Agreement,
and SOW, Service Level Commitment, or document incorporated by reference, the
following shall take precedence in descending order to the extent of any conflict or
express inconsistency except as you and Sparkrock may otherwise expressly agree in

SPARKROCK

TORONTO | CHICAGO
+1866.878.5552 | www.sparkrock.com

Page11


http://www.sparkrock.com/

writing: (a) this Agreement; (b) Service Level Commitment; and (c) any document
incorporated by reference into any of the foregoing.

No modification, amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be
effective unless in writing and signed by the party against whom the modification,
amendment or waiver is asserted. The parties agree that any term or condition stated in
a purchase order or in any other customer SOW documentation is void and is hereby
expressly rejected, and that any agreement is limited to this Agreement’s terms. The
parties are independent contractors.

This Agreement does not create a partnership, franchise, joint venture, agency, fiduciary,
or employment relationship between the parties.

The parties recognize that money damages will not be an adequate remedy for any
breach or threatened breach of any obligation hereunder by a party involving
intellectual property or Confidential Information and therefore agree that, in addition to
any other remedies that may be available in law or otherwise, a party shall be entitled to
an injunction or other equitable relief against any breach by the other party related to
the intellectual property or Confidential Information of the first party.

No failure or delay by either party in exercising any right under this Agreement will
constitute a waiver of that right.

The provisions of this Agreement, which by their nature or express terms would survive
termination or expiration of this Agreement, shall survive any termination or expiration,
including confidentiality, intellectual property and ownership, and limitation of liability.

If any provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be
contrary to law or otherwise unenforceable, then such provision shall be re-construed to
accord as fully as possible with the parties’ original infent, and the remaining provisions
of this Agreement will remain in effect.

This Agreement may be executed by facsimile and in counterparts.

For purposes of this Agreement: (a) the word “include” and its variations are deemed to
be followed by the words “without limitation”; (b) headings are used for reference only
and will not be considered when interpreting this Agreement; and (c) any reference to
a party’s “discretion” means “its sole and absolute discretion, for any reason, and
considering only its own interests and not the effect of its decision on the other party”.

SPARKROCK

TORONTO | CHICAGO
+1866.878.5552 | www.sparkrock.com

Page1 2


http://www.sparkrock.com/

SPARKROCK

SERVICE LEVEL COMMITMENT

We provide this Service Level Commitment subject to your Sparkrock Master Subscription
Agreement and the terms and conditions below. Capitalized terms used in this Service Level
Commitment and not otherwise defined herein will have the meaning given to such terms
in your Sparkrock Master Subscription Agreement. We reserve the right to change this
Service Level Commitment if Microsoft changes their Service Level Commitment with
respect to Microsoft Azure in any way which impacts our ability to meet this Service Level
Commitment. We will provide you with notice of any such changes.

We commit to provide 99.9% Availability with respect to the Sparkrock Cloud Services during
each calendar month of the term of the Agreement, excluding periods of regularly
scheduled maintenance or emergency maintenance. “Availability” means that you are
able to access the Sparkrock Cloud Services, and “Downtime” means you are not able to
access the Sparkrock Cloud Services.

The Availability of the Sparkrock Cloud Services is calculated for a given calendar month
using the following formula:

¢ Monthly Uptime Percentage = [(Total number of minutes in a given calendar month)
minus (Total number of minutes of Downtime in a given calendar month)] divided by
(Total number of minutes in a given calendar month)

If in any calendar month during the term of this Agreement, this Availability commitment is
not met, upon your request, we will provide, as your sole and exclusive remedy, a Service
Credit calculated using the following formula:

¢ Monthly uptime percentage equal to or greater than 98.0% and less than 99.9%: a
Service Credit of 5%

¢ Monthly uptime percentage equal to or greater than 95.0% and less than 98.0%: a
Service Credit of 10%

e Monthly uptime percentage equal to or greater than 90.0% and less than 95.0%: a
Service Credit of 15%

¢ Monthly uptime percentage equal to or greater than 80.0% and less than 90.0%: a
Service Credit of 25%

e Monthly uptime percentage of less than 80.0%: a Service Credit of 100%.

Service Credits are based on a percentage of your annual service fees under the
Agreement, pro rated on an equal monthly basis (i.e. 1/12th of the annual amount that you

CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY



pay Sparkrock for the Sparkrock Cloud Services). Service Credits will be issued against your
next owing invoice.

In order to receive a credit under this Service Level Commitment, you must submit a request
to us, and provide us with all reasonable details regarding the claim for service level credits,
including but not limited to, a detailed description of the incident, the duration of the
incident, the number of affected users and the locations of such users, and attempts made
by you to resolve the incident, by the end of the month following the month in which the
Availability commitment was not met (for example, if the Downtime occurs on January 15th,
you must submit a request with sufficient supporting evidence by February 28th). We will use
all information reasonably available to us to validate your claim and will make a good faith
judgement on whether the Availability commitment was or was not met. We will use
commercially reasonable efforts to process claims for service level credits within 60 days.

If any invoice owing by you is past due, or if you are otherwise in breach of your Sparkrock
Master Subscription Agreement at the time you submit any service level request to us, you
are not eligible for credit under this Service Level Commitment.

This Service Level Commitment does not apply to Downtime:

a. That resulted from factors beyond our reasonable conftrol (provided that any factors
relating to Microsoft Azure shall be deemed to be within our reasonable control);

b. That resulted from issues with any third party hardware, software, or services not
provided in connection with the Sparkrock Cloud Services by us;

c. That resulted from actions or inactions by you or your employees, agents, contractors,
or vendors, or anyone gaining access to the Sparkrock Cloud Services by means of your
passwords or equipment,

d. That was caused by your use of the Sparkrock Cloud Services after we advised you to
modify your use of the Sparkrock Cloud Services, if you did not modify your use as
advised;

e. That is ten minutes or less in duration; or

f. That resulted from scheduled maintenance or emergency maintenance;

Scheduled maintenance is performed on a monthly basis, is typically scheduled to occur at
night or on weekends, and will not exceed 5% of the total time available per month. Where
possible, information about scheduled maintenance will be provided to you at least 24
hours in advance. We may also call for emergency maintenance, which may have an
impact on the Availability. This is done typically with 24 hours’ notice; however, the
unpredictable nature of the "emergency” may require a shorter notice period. The
maximum notice period possible will be provided and the impact on Availability will be
communicated to you.

CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY



EXHIBIT A-3

As-Needed Services

ACTA may request additional services from Consultant on an as-needed basis during
the term of the Agreement which ACTA deems necessary for the full implementation of
the Project using the procedure set forth herein. Such additional services may include,
but are not limited to, changes, modifications, or solution customizations to the
Sparkrock 365 system. Such as-needed services shall be paid on a time and materials
basis as set forth in Exhibit A-4.

As-needed services performed by Consultant shall occur as follows:

ACTA’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) or Chief Financial Officer (“CFQO”) shall issue a
written Contract Task Order (“CTQ”) in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A-3(a) that
specifies, without limitation: the Task or Subtask to be performed; the specific services
required in connection with such Task or Subtask; the deliverables required in the
performance of such Task or Subtask; the schedule for the performance of such Task or
Subtask; authorized personnel who may perform the Task or Subtask; and authorized
compensation for such Task or Subtask.

Consultant, if it agrees to the CTO, shall sign, date and return such CTO to ACTA to
reflect its agreement with all the terms of such CTO. If Consultant believes that a SOW
or other terms or revisions are necessary, Consultant shall make add such SOW or
terms or make such revisions to the CTO.

Following ACTA'’s receipt of the CTO signed by Consultant, ACTA’s CEO or CFO shall
issue a Notice to Proceed in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A-3(b) that has been
signed by him and that authorizes Consultant to commence performance of the services
contemplated by such CTO. The parties acknowledge and agreed that, upon
Consultant’s receipt of a Notice to Proceed from ACTA, the CTO shall be a binding
agreement between the parties.



Exhibit A-3(a)
Contract Task Order

(Date)
(Consultant)
(Consultant Address)

Attention: (Project Manager)
Subject: Agreement No.

Contract Task Order No.
Project Name

Pursuant to Agreement No. , after receipt of a written Notice to Proceed signed by
ACTA’s CEO, Consultant shall proceed with the following:

Task Services Authorized Amount

Consultant shall provide all required task, services, and deliverables in accordance with the terms
of Agreement No.

Consultant shall complete the work within calendar days from ACTA’s transmittal of its

written Notice to Proceed.

Consultant acknowledges that the terms and conditions of Agreement No. _ govern this
Contract Task Order and that its signature below reflects its agreement with the terms and
conditions of this Contract Task Order No. __.

If you have any questions, please contact at (562) 247-

Very truly yours,

Mike Leue
ACTA Chief Executive Officer ACCEPTED:

(Consultant Name)

Date:




Exhibit A-3(b)

Notice to Proceed

(Date)

(Consultant)
(Consultant Address)

Attention: (Project Manager)
Subject: Agreement No.
Notice to Proceed — Contract Task Order No.

Project Name

This is to notify and direct you to commence performance of the subject Contract Task

Order No. . Enclosed is your set of the executed Contract Task Order documents.
If you have any questions, please contact at (5662) 247-

Very truly yours,

Mike Leue

ACTA Chief Executive Officer

Enclosure: Contract Task Order No.



Exhibit A-4
SOW

This Statement of Work is made under and subject to the Master Services Agreement between
Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority ("Customer”) and Sparkrock (“Sparkrock”) dated

(the "Agreement") for the services to be provided by Sparkrock as described in this
SOW (the "Project”).

This SOW represents a Time and Material contract. Any material changes in the Scope of
services to be performed under this SOW will be made in accordance with Project Change
Control and may result in a change in the Fee and/or Term.

The Project Scope is limited to the Business Processes and Design Areas listed below and
follows Sparkrock’s implementation methodology as set out in this SOW. Except as otherwise
expressly set out in this SOW or any Project Change Request (PCR) signed by Customer and
Sparkrock under the Project Change Control Process, the Business Processes and Design areas
are limited to Sparkrock Software as made generally commercially available by Sparkrock
licensed by Customer under the MSA (e.g., if Customer subscribed only for the Finance
Software Module under the applicable Order, only the Finance Software Module sections
below apply).

14803889.7



1. Training provided which includes overview of how the budget module works,
including:
» fund accounting
= encumbrances
= blocks and warnings

2. Set up and configuration for budget-check at the G/L account, funding source and
project level (dimensions)

3. Set up and configuration to budget-check all expense account transactions
including:

e Purchase invoices

e Purchase Requisitions
e Payment Requests

e Journal Entries

4. Training on changes to existing workflows and approval groups if budget-checking
is turned on
5. Analysis on multi-year contracts budgeted on a fiscal year basis.

6. Budget Module
e Comprehensive review of budget functionality

e ACTA's Principal Accountant and Staff Accountant complete Budget Template
previously developed by Arctic IT or one newly developed by Sparkrock

e Sparkrock loads template and tests
e Joint review of Budget process, workflows and reporting
e ACTA UAT
e Post UAT corrections
e ACTA review and signs-off
7. Reporting — running standard, ad hoc, budget vs. actual, other available reports

8. All work described in Exhibit A-4(a)

14803889.7



This includes:

Analysis
Configuration
Training

Any review of Arctic IT Implementation that is not defined above

General
Any Integration not listed above

Any Customization not listed above

Any configuration or development services required to address Gaps identified
by the parties

All Sparkrock Additional Service Offerings except to the extent Customer and
Sparkrock enter into a separate Statement of Work or Work Order for any such
Additional Service Offerings.

Product Enhancement Requests

A Product Enhancement is considered functionality not currently supported by
the Sparkrock Solution. Any Product Enhancement requests are out of scope

under this SOW unless otherwise agreed by the parties the Project Change
Control Process set out in the SOW.

Project Resources, Timeline & Responsibilities

The Sparkrock team tasked to deliver the Services pursuant to this SOW will be comprised

of key roles and several additional experts with various subject matter specialties. The key

roles will provide the mainstays for the duration of the Project: Sparkrock Engagement
Manager, Customer Success Representative, Customer Success Product Trainer, Project
Manager, Finance Consultant, HCM Consultant. Other roles, skills and expertise will be

active on the Project as required.

14803889.7



The Project is scheduled to begin after this Statement of Work is executed.

Dates (if applicable) set out in this SOW are dependent on Customer availability,
scheduling, and resource availability. Failure by Customer to assign or make available

Customer personnel to complete tasks relating to the Project in a timely manner in

accordance with the Project plan and as requested by Sparkrock may result in delays in

Project timelines.

The responsibility assignment matrix ("RACI") set out below describes the respective

responsibilities of Sparkrock and Customer.

Within the 'RACI matrix’ below, we define the following terms have the meanings below:

14803889.7

Responsible (R) — The party who is responsible for delivering a Deliverable.
Although a party may be reflected as responsible, the work of that party may be
dependent on other parties who are Accountable; in the event the party or parties
who are Accountable do not provide their work fully or on a timely basis, the
Responsible party although so identified, would not be in a position to deliver the
Deliverable on which there are dependencies on an Accountable party or parties.
One Responsible party only is assigned for each Deliverable.

Accountable (A) —A party ultimately whose inputs or work are required for the
proper completion of the Deliverable by a Responsible party. One accountable
party, other than the Responsible party, is assigned for each Deliverable.
Consulted (C) — The party who is consulted before as part of the development of
a Deliverable. Consulted parties do not expected produce the Deliverable, but
instead provide general advice concerning the Deliverable. However, unlike an
Accountable party, the Consulted party’s input is not required for the proper
completion of the Deliverable.

Informed (I) — Those parties who are periodically provided information on the
characteristics of and progress on the Deliverable.



Deliverable RACI Matrix

DELIVERABLE DESCRIPTION CUSTOMER SPARKROCK

Project Plan The Project Plan identifies Onboarding A+C
milestones, tasks, durations,
resources, and constraints. The
Project Plan shall also include a
detailed timeline.

2 Project Project Collaboration Site (Microsoft Initiation A+C A+R
Collaboration Teams) to facilitate collaboration on
Site the Project.

This site will contain the following:
* Issues List
* Action Items List
* Project Documents
* Project Calendar
¢ Risk Register
¢ Change Control

3 Project The following artifacts will be used Onboarding A+C R
Management to monitor, control, and
Controls communicate Project progress:
* Bi-Weekly status report
* Issue Log

¢ Change Control

4 Data Migration The customer will map all legacy Onboarding R+A C
Mapping and data to the provided Data Migration
Validation Templates.

The customer will validate the
migrated data and perform any
required data cleaning in the source
data to have a repeatable migration

process.
5 Use Cases Use Cases will be by the Customer Onboarding R+A C
and used to validate the Sparkrock
Solution.
6 User Test Drive The customer will conduct tests Onboarding R+A C

using data that was uploaded using
the provided data migration
templates.

14803889.7



DELIVERABLE DESCRIPTION CUSTOMER SPARKROCK

7 Cutover Plan A cutover plan will outline the Launch A+C
priorities, tasks, and procedures
during the cutover period for e the
planned Go-Live.

8 Postproduction Sparkrock will provide post- Post Go-Live A R
Support production support in the month
following go live (Go live date to be
set out in the Project Plan).

Acceptance Procedures

The following acceptance procedures apply to Deliverables for which Sparkrock has been
designated as the Responsible (R) Party:

» Sparkrock will make such Deliverables available to Customer for review and

acceptance, in accordance with the applicable Project timelines;

e Customer will provide written notice of acceptance or rejection of such Deliverables
within ten (10) business days of notification of delivery by Sparkrock. Deliverables
which are not rejected by Customer within the above time period shall be deemed
accepted.

¢ Notwithstanding the foregoing, Deliverables expressly identified in this SOW as being
part of the "Monitoring & Controlling” phase are deemed to be accepted when
delivered to Customer.

e If Customer rejects a Deliverable, Customer shall deliver to Sparkrock an exception
report describing the nonconformity (the “Exception Report”). Sparkrock shall
promptly investigate the alleged nonconformity and shall work diligently to correct
such nonconformity on a timely basis as soon as practicable. Upon Sparkrock’s notice
to Customer that Sparkrock has remedied the applicable nonconformity, Customer
will re-test the applicable Deliverable, confirming the cure or providing a further
Exception Report to Sparkrock describing the nonconformity requiring further
remediation. The above process will repeat, until such Deliverable is accepted or
deemed to be accepted by Customer pursuant to the Acceptance Procedures
specified above.

14803889.7



14803889.7

Sparkrock has the right to assign / re-assign any resource to the Project as required.

The Customer will provide resources to complete the Customer Project tasks as
assigned in the baseline Project Plan and Responsibility Matrix.

No Integrations / Customizations are included in this SOW unless specifically listed in
the Business Processes and Design Areas.

Electronic File Transfer (EFT) will use one of the Sparkrock standard file layouts.

Setup of Roles and Permissions is based on a “Train the User” approach. Sparkrock will
provide standard Roles and Permissions. Modifying or Creating New Roles and
permissions may be required by the customer.

Project design will be based on recommended practices for Sparkrock Software, rather
than the reimplementation of existing business processes based on the Customer’s
legacy system. Sparkrock will provide recommendations for configuration and design
options to meet the Customers’ requirements based on best practices for
implementation of Sparkrock Software.

Where possible the Project team will optimize functionality of the version of Sparkrock
Software that has been generally commercially release or is planned by Sparkrock
rather than customizing the Sparkrock Software.

Completion of Deliverables requires Customer resources (Executive Sponsors, Business
Decision Makers, Key Users, IT Managers, and IT Members etc.) to be reasonably
available to support activities such as workshops, meetings, document review sessions,
etc.

Customer’s Business Leaders will be responsible for timely decision-making, critical
issue resolution, and efforts to promote this project internally.

Customer will provide a Project Manager, who will work with the Sparkrock Project
Manager to co-ordinate the Project (specifically, the activities and Deliverables to be
completed by Customer personnel) and provide feedback on associated deliverables.
Customer business and technical Subject Matter Experts (SME's) will provide
knowledge and insight into the data, processes and tools for each activity being



14803889.7

undertaken. Customer resources will be available to provide follow up materials and
answer questions after sessions have been completed.

In order to meet the Project Timeline any issues escalated to the Project Sponsors will
require an action plan to resolve the issues within three business days. Any delays
could result in delays in the Project schedule.

If Sparkrock is delayed in performing the work arising from action or inaction of
Customer, Customer’s employees, or any contractor engaged by Customer, cost and
Project schedule shall be correspondingly adjusted based on the length of applicable
delay or the change arising from such action or inaction, as agreed by both parties
pursuant to the Project Change Control Process.

Customer is solely responsible for all cost and actions required with respect to
Customer’s existing legacy systems, software and applications (whether internally
developed or supplied by third party vendors) for resolution of issues arising in existing
systems, software and applications as they may interoperate or be required to
interoperate with the Sparkrock Software.

Customer will be solely responsible for obtaining and the costs associated with all
necessary licenses and use rights for any such systems, software and applications not
supplied by Sparkrock required to be utilized by Sparkrock to provide the Deliverables.
Customer will provide, and is solely responsible for costs associated with, facilities,
workspace, printers, applicable network access, email, applicable system access, and
building access for the Sparkrock personnel on the Project team to the extent they are
required on-site at the premises of Customer.

Customer will provide, and is solely responsible for costs associated with, connectivity
required for Sparkrock personnel working on the Project remotely and not on
Customer’s premises. Sparkrock acknowledges that such access may be subject to
internal Customer security policies or procedures which will be provided to Sparkrock
by Customer and with with Sparkrock agrees to comply.

Customer personnel assigned to the Project team will be responsible for preparing
internal documentation, testing and in-house support for the Project.
Communications concerning issue identified and issue resolution related to the Project
will be managed through the Sparkrock Customer Resource Portal. Specific high
priority issues may also be communicated via Project status reports or escalated in
emails and through phone calls.

Statutory holiday and weekend work is not covered in the scope of the existing fixed
price cost of this SOW. Billing rates for Sparkrock personnel required for the Project
on statutory holidays or weekends are 1.5 times standard rates otherwise specified in
this SOW. In the event Customer requests Sparkrock resources to work over a statutory



holiday or weekend, a Project Change Request will be issued the cover the additional
fees on a time and materials basis.
» Sparkrock professional services under this SOW are provided only in English.

Fees, Billing and Change Orders

Subject to the assumptions and scope set out above, Customer will pay Sparkrock a Time
and Material price of for this Statement of Work as set out below.

Resources and Rates Resource Hours Rate USD |Total
. 20 $250 $5,000
Consulting
L 12 $250 $3,000
Training
. . 16 $250 54,000
Configuration and Set Up
. 100 5250 525,000
As-Needed Services
Total Estimated Cost: . .
otal Estimated Los Pre-Tax: $37,000 (Time & Materials)

Sparkrock will complete this Work Order on a time and material basis. Sparkrock
will issue invoices bi-monthly based on the actual time spent and any costs incurred.

Fees set out above do not include:
e Applicable taxes

e Any fees applicable to software licensing or access, or annual maintenance and
support programs relating to any software

e Any hardware, if applicable

e Post implementation support, except as otherwise expressly set out above

14803889.7



14803889.7

Any modification to the services set out in this SOW requires a Project Change Request
(PCR) to be signed by the Customer and Sparkrock, which when signed will constitute and
amendment to the applicable Statement of Work. The process for requesting and
establishing a PCR is set out below.

If Customer proposes any additions, deletions, amendments or other changes to the
Project as outlined above (each, a “Change”), Customer shall deliver a written notice
proposing the Change(s) (@ “Project Change Proposal”) to Sparkrock. Sparkrock shall
respond to such Project Change Proposal on a timely basis providing, at no cost to
Customer, a quotation in the form of a Project Change Request (PCR) including the
following: (i) the effect of the Project Change Proposal, if any, on the amounts payable by
Customer hereunder and the manner in which such effect was calculated; (ii) the effect of
the Project Change Proposal, if any, on the Project functionality and schedule; (iii) an
implementation plan for the Project Change Proposal; (v) additional costs for
implementing the Change; (vi) any other information reasonably requested in the request
for the applicable Change .

Similarly, if Sparkrock desires to initiate and proposed Changes, it shall provide a Project
Change Proposal to Customer in the form of a PCR as outlined above.

Customer shall respond a Project Change Proposal as soon as practicable and in any case
within no more than thirty (30) days of Customer’s receipt of the Project Change Request
Proposal, indicating whether the Project Change Proposal is accepted or rejected. If the
Customer does not accept the Change Request Proposal within ten (10) days of receipt
thereof, the Project Schedule and any other timelines outlined in the Project Change
Proposal shall be correspondingly delayed taking into account the additional time arising
from the Customer’s acceptance later than ten (10) days from receipt of such Project
Change Proposal.

No Change to the Project or any amendment to resource assignments will be made by
Sparkrock until the Project Change Request for the applicable Change(s) has been signed
by both Customer and Sparkrock.



Customer Sparkrock

SIGNATURE SIGNATURE
NAME NAME
TITLE TITLE

DATE DATE

I have the authority to bind the company I have the authority to bind the company

SIGNATURE

NAME

TITLE

DATE

I have the authority to bind the company

14803889.7



Exhibit A-4(a)
Support and Training

e Application Support — Sparkrock will provide unlimited remote phone/email support for
break/fix and general how-to questions for the ACTA solution.

o Refresher Training —Most end usersbenefit from a review of the initial training. This
“refresher training” will allow end users to ask questions, re-learn the best steps for completing
common tasks, and provide additional knowledge afterthey have become comfortable and
familiar with the application. The Sparkrock Account Manager will work with ACTA to
schedule a 1-week end user refresher training.

Ongoing Training — Periodic training is available throughout the year to help end users learn
tips andtricks to become more efficient in the use of Sparkrock 365. ACTA will work with
their Sparkrock assigned Account Manager to identify those areas of the application which
end users would benefit for additional training. Once a topic is identified for the training
session, a date/time will be set and contentcreated which will provide the most benefit to the
end users.

o Periodic Meetings and Status Reports — Sparkrock will conduct regular meetings with
ACTA’s appointed contact on a mutually agreed upon schedule to provide ACTA insights
into the status of the business applications operations. Sparkrock will provide ACTA with
reports on open/closed cases, assumptions, and insight into areas that may improve ACTA’s
business operations.

14803889.7



EXHIBIT B

SMALL BUSINESS ENTERPRISE PROGRAM

The Alameda Corridor Transportation Authority (“ACTA”) is committed to creating an
environment that provides all individuals and businesses open access to the business
opportunities available at ACTA. ACTA's Small Business Enterprise (SBE) Program
was created to provide opportunities for small businesses to participate in professional
service and construction contracts. It is the policy of ACTA to solicit participation in the
performance of all service contracts by all individuals and businesses, including, but not
limited to, SBEs, women-owned business enterprises (WBEs), minority-owned business
enterprises (MBEs), and disabled veteran business enterprises (DVBEs). The SBE
Program allows ACTA to target small business participation, including MBEs, WBEs,
and DVBEs, more effectively.

An overall ACTA goal of 25% SBE participation by total contract value and/or by total
number of contracts awarded to SBE prime consultants or contractors has been
established for the Program. The specific goal or requirement for each contract
opportunity may be higher or lower based on the scope of work, and will be stated in the
specific request for proposals or bids. Based on the work to be performed under
this Agreement, it has been determined that the percentage of required small
business participation will be 0%.

Consultant shall be responsible for determining the SBE status of its subconsultants for
purposes of meeting the small business requirement, where required, and for reporting
to ACTA. Subconsultants must qualify as an SBE based on the type of services that
they will be performing under the Agreement. All business participation will be
determined by the percentage of the total amount of compensation under the
agreement paid to SBEs.



AFFIDAVIT OF COMPANY STATUS

“The undersigned declares under penalty of perjury pursuant to the laws of the State of California that the following

information and information contained on the attached Contractor Description Form is true and correct and include all

material information necessary to identify and explain the operations of

Name of Firm

as well as the ownership thereof. Further, the undersigned agrees to provide either through the prime consultant or, directly

to ACTA, complete and accurate information regarding ownership in the named firm, any proposed changes of the

ownership and to permit the audit and examination of firm ownership documents in association with this agreement.”

Small/Very Small Business Enterprise Program: Please indicate the ownership of your company. Please check all that

apply. At least one box must be checked:

[IsBE [JvsBE [IvBE [JWBE [ DVBE [ ]OBE
Signature Title
Printed Name Date Signed

NOTARY
Subscribed and sworn to (or affirmed) before me on this day of

STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) ,20___ by

) ss
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES ) (1

Name of Signer (1)

Place Notary Seal and/or Stamp Above

Who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person
who appeared before me (.)(,)

(and)

(2)

Name of Signer (2)

Who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person
who appeared before me.)

Signature




Contractor Description Form

For the Prime Contractor and each Subcontractor, state the type of SBE certification claimed and, if available,
return documentation with this form to ACTA evidencing the declared SBE certification.

PRIME CONTRACTOR

Contract #: Award Date: Contract Term:

Contract Title:

Business Name: Award Total: $

Owner’s Ethnicity: Gender Group: SBE _VSBE MBE WBE DVBE OBE

(Circle all that apply)
If claimed, state SBE certification type:

Address:
City/State/Zip:
Telephone: ( ) FAX: ( )
Contact Person/Title:

Email Address:

SUBCONTRACTOR

Business Name: Award Total: $

Services to be provided:

Owner’s Ethnicity: Gender Group: SBE VSBE MBE WBE DVBE OBE

(Circle all that apply)
If claimed, state SBE certification type:

Address:
City/State/Zip:
Telephone: ( ) FAX: ( )
Contact Person/Title:

Email Address:

SUBCONTRACTOR

Business Name: Award Total: $

Services to be provided:

Owner’s Ethnicity: Gender Group: SBE VSBE MBE WBE DVBE OBE

(Circle all that apply)
If claimed, state SBE certification type:

Address:
City/State/Zip:
Telephone: ( ) FAX: ( )
Contact Person/Title:

Email address:




	Agenda
	Item 1-August Performance Report
	Item 2-September 15, 2022 Regular Meeting Minutes
	Item 3-Resolution No. JPA 22-17 authorizing teleconference meetings for ACTA Governing Board & Its Audit Committee pursuant to AB 361
	Item 3-Transmittal 1, Resolution No. JPA 22-17

	Item 4-SparkRock Accounting Software Agreement
	Item 4-Transmittal 1, Spark Rock Agreement




